
January 24, 2013 
 
Dear JPA Board Members, 
 
In an effort to move towards Zero Waste, and at the 
request of the JPA Chair, JPA Agenda packets will 
only be available electronically, hard copies of the 
packets will be available to JPA Board members upon 
request by notifying JPA Staff. 
 
This will be your final hard copy unless otherwise 
directed. 
 
Respectfully, 
- JPA Staff 





     

 
All public meetings and events sponsored or conducted by the County of Marin are held in accessible sites. Requests for 
accommodations may be requested by calling (415) 473-4381 (voice) (415) 473-3232 (TTY) at least four work days in 
advance of the event. Copies of documents are available in alternative formats, upon written request. 

Contact the County’s Waste Management Division, at (415) 473-6647 for more information 

 

 
MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS & SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT 

JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 
 

Board of Directors Meeting 
Thursday, January 24, 2013 

Marin Municipal Water District   
220 Nellen Avenue, Corte Madera 

9:00 -10:00 AM 
 

AGENDA 
 

Call to Order. 
Regular Agenda 

 
 

1. JPA Board Meeting Minutes from August 23, 2012.  (Action) 
 

2. Executive Committee Appointment and Budget Subcommittee Appointments and Schedule (Action) 
 

3. Carryover FY 12-13 Zero Waste Grant Funds into Proposed Combined FY 13-14 Offering (Action) 
 

4. Update on Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) Program from City of San Rafael Fire and Authorize use 
of Contingency Funds for FY 12/13 HHW Operations (Action) 

 
5. Authorize use of Contingency Funds for Increased Sharps and Pharmaceuticals Outreach (Action) 

 
6. CalRecycle Presentation on AB 341 Mandatory Commercial Recycling (Presentation) 

 
 

Consent Calendar 
 
 
7. Update on Single Use Bag/CEQA RFP. (Receive and File)  

 
8. Update on Zero Waste Outreach RFQ. (Receive and File) 
 
9. Updated JPA Staffing Contract with County. (Action) 
 
10. Novato Household Hazardous Waste Grant. (Action) 

 
11. Contract with R3 Consulting for C&D Facility Recertifications (Action) 

 
12. Update on Redwood Landfill EIR and Related Expansion Permit  (Receive and File) 

 
13. Appointment of Dan North to Local Task Force. (Action) 

 
 



     

 
All public meetings and events sponsored or conducted by the County of Marin are held in accessible sites. Requests for 
accommodations may be requested by calling (415) 473-4381 (voice) (415) 473-3232 (TTY) at least four work days in 
advance of the event. Copies of documents are available in alternative formats, upon written request. 

Contact the County’s Waste Management Division, at (415) 473-6647 for more information 

 

 
14. Recruitment for Special District Representative (Receive and File) 

 
 
15. Notice of Funds Available: City/County Payment Program via CalRecycle. (Receive and File) 
 

 
End Consent Calendar 

 
 
16. Staff Report on Recent and Ongoing Activities.  (Information) 
 
17. Open Time. 
 
18. The next scheduled JPA Board Meeting is To Be Determined. 
 
19. Adjourn.  The meeting will be adjourned in memory of Elissa Giambastiani an active participant in the 

JPA’s Local Task Force who passed away on December 16th. 
 

Agendas and staff reports can be viewed at: 
 http://zerowastemarin.org/who-we-are/2012-jpa-agendas-and-minutes-2/ 

 
F:\Waste\JPA\AGENDA\12-08-23.doc 



1 
DRAFT 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS & SOLID WASTE 
MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

 
Board of Directors Meeting 
Thursday August 23, 2012 

Marin Municipal Water District. 
220 Nellen Avenue, Corte Madera 

 
MINUTES 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT  
Nancy Mackle, San Rafael  
Rob Braulik, Ross  
Matthew Hymel, County of Marin 
Dan Schwarz, Larkspur 
Adam Politzer, Sausalito 
Jim McCann, Mill Valley 
David Bracken, Corte Madera 
Debra Stutsman, San Anselmo 
Margaret Curran, Tiburon 
Judy Anderson, Fairfax 
 
Members Absent 
Michael Frank, Novato 
 

 

STAFF PRESENT 
Michael Frost, JPA Staff  
Steve Devine, JPA Staff 
Alex Soulard, JPA Staff  
 
OTHERS PRESENT 
Andy Campbell, Renew Computers 
Renee Goddard, JPA LTF 
Krysty Emery, CalRecycle 
Felicia Wheaton, City of Belvedere 
Bruce Baum, GCRWRM 
Jon Elam, JPA LTF Chair 
 
 
 
 

Call to Order The JPA Board meeting came to order at 9:01 AM. 
 

1. JPA Board Meeting Minutes from May 24, 2012 
M/s Mackle, Hymel to approve the minutes from the May 24, 2012 JPA Board meeting.  The motion 
passed unanimously. 
 

2. JPA Board Chair, Vice Chair, and Executive Committee Appointments. 
Staff provided an update on the Chair and Vice Chair vacancies due to the resignations of George 
Rodericks (Belvedere) and Michael Rock (Fairfax) as well as the need to fill the Southern Marin 
Cities and Ross Valley Cities spots for the Executive Committee.  Mr. McCann identified he would 
fill the Southern Marin seat until Adam Politzer takes the position once he steps down from his role 
as the head of the Marin Managers Association in January 2013.  Ms. Stutsman nominated Mr. 
Schwarz for the Ross Valley seat.  Ms. Stutsman nominated Ms. Mackle for JPA Chair and Mr. 
Hymel for Vice-Chair.  All motions passed unanimously.  No public comment was received. 
 

3. Single Use Bag Subcommittee Update 
Staff updated the Board regarding the single-use bag issue as well as a Subcommittee meeting 
comprised of members Mackle and McCann.  Staff noted that the Single-use Bag Subcommittee 
has received input from County Counsel, San Rafael City Attorney’s Office, and San Rafael City 
staff.  The Subcommittee formed a recommendation to the JPA Board to issue a Request for 
Proposals (RFP) for development of a model ordinance and associated CEQA analysis.  
Subcommittee members reviewed the recommendation with the Board and fielded questions.  Staff 
noted that there is no funding in place at this time in the JPA budget for this project, however 
adequate reserves should exist if the Board wishes to fund the project at a future date.  Mr. Elam 
identified disappointment for a lack of leadership on this item.  Krysty Emery from CalRecycle’s 
Local Assistance and Market Development Branch noted that other regions in the State that have 
found that a consistent countywide standard single use bag ban to be very successful.  M/s Curran, 



 

Stutsman to issue RFP for the development of model single use bag ordinance.  The motion 
passed unanimously.   
 

4. Local Task Force Work Plan  
Staff provided an update on the work plan developed by the JPA Local Task Force (LTF). Items 
reviewed included a pilot program to recycle asphalt shingles for use in road paving, Extended 
Producer Responsibility, expanding existing sharps and pharmaceuticals collection opportunities, 
and community outreach.  LTF Chair Elam reported on the effort by the LTF to develop the work 
plan and encouraged Board member to interact with their LTF counterparts.   Mr. Politzer 
suggested interested LTF members increase interaction and possibly confer with city boards and 
panels on many of the items listed in the work plan.  No action was necessary.      

 

5. Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for Zero Waste Outreach/Advertising Contractor 
Staff stated that the second year of Zero Waste Outreach and Advertising is underway.  Staff noted 
overall satisfaction with the materials produced by JPA contractor The Hive Advertising, however 
several LTF member have expressed concerns such as; insufficient community feedback, the 
program is not focused, and lacks a public relations strategy.  Staff would like to release a new 
Request for Qualification (RFQ) to determine what approach other contractors might take to help 
reach the JPA Zero Waste goal.  Ms. Curran noted concern with hiring a new contractor and 
wanted to make use of existing assets.  Staff stated the RFQ would include means of measuring 
success and would require the contractor to utilize materials already developed by The Hive.   Ms. 
Mackle noted the need to identify the target market to best effect zero waste behavior change.  
Staff fielded questions from the Board and public to address concerns including; developing 
outreach materials for Member Agencies, timelines of the existing contract and an expectation of 
how the program would move forward.  M/s Mackle, Curran to develop an RFQ that would continue 
on the existing track, yet provide more market research, identify how success would be measured, 
and focus the zero waste program to meet the goal.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 

6. CalRecycle Siting Element for Marin County 
Mr. Baum requested this item be removed from Consent Calendar.  Staff provided a review of the 
CalRecycle Siting Element requirement as well as the landfill site life analysis attached to the 
agenda item, which identifies, based on the consultant’s analysis, more than 15 years of life remain 
at the Redwood Landfill, thus not requiring a fully revised Siting Element.  Mr. Baum noted his 
discomfort with the report, notably the assumptions it makes and the worst case scenarios and 
requested the JPA develop a response plan should the worst case scenarios occur.  Staff identified 
the State requirements on reporting landfill life and explained said report does not obligate the 
reporting agency to include a response plan should a worst case scenario take place.   
 

Consent Calendar 
 

7. CalRecycle 2011 Annual Report for Marin County 
 

8. Zero Waste Grants Update 
 

M/s Politzer, Hymel to approve items on the consent calendar.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 
 

End Consent Calendar 
 

9. Staff Report on Recent and Ongoing Activities 
Staff provided a report on ongoing activities.  This included a thanks to Redwood Landfill for the 
tour in June as requested by the LTF, an update to the upcoming LTF meeting where the Central 
Marin Sanitation Agency will present on the Food Waste to Energy Program, and mention of Staff’s 



 

attendance at the California Resource Recovery Association annual conference in Oakland.  No 
public comment was received. 
 

10. Open Time 
Renee Goddard noted her appreciation for participation on the LTF and requested any feedback 
from the individual JPA Board members.  Andy Campbell noted an interest in promoting 
involvement by local businesses in the Zero Waste Program and that exposure of the program 
could be enhanced by businesses.  Mr. Politzer again noted his recommendation to the public in 
attendance that anyone interested should interact with their local city boards to develop  
relationships at local monthly meetings or though Chambers of Commerce. 
 

11. The next scheduled JPA Board Meeting is To Be Determined. 
 

12. Adjourn. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\MINUTES\12-08-23.doc 



2 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:  January 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Michael Frost, Executive Director 
 
Re: Executive Committee Appointments and FY 13-14 Budget Process 
 
In past years, your Executive Committee has appointed a budget 
subcommittee consisting of your Chair and Vice Chair to review the proposed 
JPA Budget prior to submission to the Executive Committee.  Following that 
precedent, it is recommended your Board appoint Nancy Mackle and Matthew 
Hymel as the Executive Committee's budget subcommittee.  It is also 
recommended you approve the following budget schedule: 
 

1. February 8, 2013, San Rafael Fire Department submits budget request 
to JPA staff. 

 
2. March 8, 2013, JPA staff submits budget request and fee resolution to 

Executive Committee budget subcommittee. 
 
3. Budget subcommittee meets with staff before April 12, 2013 for review 

and approval. 
 
4. April 25, 2013, budget and fee resolution approved by Executive 

Committee. 
 
5. May 23, 2013, budget and fee resolution adopted by full JPA Board. 

 
Additionally, staff would like to formally address the appointment of Adam 
Politzer to the Executive Committee, replacing Jim McCann.  As discussed at 
the August 23, 2012 JPA Board Meeting Mr. Politzer will assume the seat on 
the Executive Committee following his resignation as the Marin Managers 
Association Chair. 
 
Recommendation 
It is recommended your Board select Budget Subcommittee members, approve 
the Budget Process, and elect Adam Politzer to the Executive Committee, 
replacing Jim McCann. 
 
cc: Chief Chris Gray, San Rafael Fire Department 

Deputy Fire Marshal John Lippitt, San Rafael Fire Department 
Patty Garbarino, Marin Sanitary Service 

 
F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 130124\Budget Subcommittee Schedule.doc 



3 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:  January 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re: Carryover of FY 12-13 Zero Waste Grant Funds to FY 13-14 

Grant Year Offering  
 
For the past three budget years (FY 10/11, FY 11/12, and the current FY 
12/13) the JPA has allocated $250,000 each year for Zero Waste Grants 
for the JPA members (the eleven Cities and the County) plus nine 
special districts that franchise solid waste in Marin. 
 
The Zero Waste Grants have been well received with the FY 11/12 
“cycle” currently underway with Final Reports due July 19, 2013.  Due to 
the timing of the past and current cycles – the program is essentially 
running a year behind in relation to the JPA fiscal year. 
 
Accordingly, staff is recommending that the JPA Board authorize 
carrying over the current Fiscal Year’s $250,000 allocation into next 
Fiscal Year (FY 13/14) – and potentially offering a “double offering” 
which would both reduce administrative burden and allow for recipients 
to potentially implement larger and more effective projects.  That said, 
this proposed action would only address the currently budgeted funds 
and would not obligate the Board as to what it might do in terms of next 
year’s budget. 
 
Recommendation 
Authorize the carryover of $250,000 in the Zero Waste Fund from FY 
12/13 to FY 13/14 by authorizing the County of Marin Department of 
Finance to transfer $250,000 in appropriations from fund 70073, fund 
center 6180012000, account 5211500 Miscellaneous Services, to fund 
70073, fund center 6180990003, account 5211500 Miscellaneous 
Services for $250,000. 
 
 
SAP budgetary document reference number: FMBB Doc. #100018533. 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 130124\Zero Waste Grant Carryover PB.doc 



4 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:  January 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Michael Frost, Executive Director 
 
Re: Update on Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) Program from 

City of San Rafael Fire and Authorize use of Contingency Funds 
for FY 12/13 HHW Operations 

 
The JPA funds household hazardous waste services for Marin (except 
for Novato) via a contract with the City of San Rafael Fire Department, 
which in turn contracts with the Marin Recycling & Resource Recovery 
Association for the operation of the HHW facility at 565 Jacoby Street in 
San Rafael. 
 
The JPA Board approved FY 2012/2013 budget includes $1,228,518 for 
services contracted to MRRRA via the City of San Rafael, and $142,650 
for the City of San Rafael’s management services. 
 
Due to factors including higher than anticipated volumes, and a delay in 
the “PaintCare” extended producer responsibility program coming online 
– the HHW operations are trending over budget.  $306,878 of 
contingency funding is included and available within the HHW fund of the 
FY 2012/2013 JPA budget to potentially address these costs.  
 
John Lippitt, City of San Rafael Deputy Fire Marshal will make a 
presentation at this meeting to brief the Board on current operations and 
the state of the current FY 2012/2013 HHW budget. 
 
Recommendation 
Receive report from City of San Rafael Fire Department and authorize 
release of up to $175,000 from the HHW contingency account into the 
HHW contract services account: 70071-5210100. 
 
f:\waste\jpa\jpa agenda items\jpa 130124\hhw update and contingency funds.doc 



5 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date:  January 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re:  Authorize use of Contingency Funds for Increased Sharps and 

Pharmaceuticals Outreach 
 
The Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) Subcommittee of the Local 
Task Force (LTF) met several times in September and October of 2012 to 
discuss the functionality and success of the County’s Sharps and 
Pharmaceuticals collection program.  These meeting resulted in a 
recommendation from the LTF to increase funding of the program to 
enhance outreach. 
 
The JPA funds the sharps collection program out of the Household 
Hazardous Waste (HHW) budget – and the services are provided by the 
Environmental Health Division of the Community Development Agency.  
The JPA included $68,600 for the sharps collection program in the 
2012/2013 budget which pays for sharps containers and collection service 
at 21 locations. The pharmaceutical program is funded by various sanitary 
districts.  The annual budget for that program is approximately $15,000, 
which pays for collection service at 10 locations.  The main outreach tool for 
both services is the program’s website. 
 
The LTF EPR Subcommittee first met on September 17, 2012 to familiarize 
themselves on existing programs.  The Subcommittee met again on 
October 2, 2012 with Whitney King of the Community Development Agency 
(CDA) to discuss the Sharps and Pharmaceuticals programs.  The 
Subcommittee reported back to the LTF at their October and November 
meetings to educate the group of the structure of the program, which 
brought to light opportunities to increase outreach and participation.  
 
On October 24, 2012 the Subcommittee had a follow up meeting to 
continue discussion of the Community Development Agency’s Sharps and 
Pharmaceuticals Programs.  The subcommittee developed a 
recommendation to the LTF to support providing outreach funding to CDA 
to increase the effectiveness of the existing programs.  At the LTF’s 
November 7, 2012 meeting, the group unanimously adopted a 
recommendation that the JPA Board allocate increased funding for stepped 
up promotion on the proper disposal of sharps and pharmaceuticals from 
contingency funds.



 

The HHW fund has $306,878 budgeted in its FY 2012/2013 contingency account. 
 
Recommendation 
The Local Task Force recommends your Board provide $5,330 in funding from contingency 
reserves to the Marin County CDA to develop and implement increased outreach strategies 
and materials for the sharps and pharmaceuticals take-back programs. 
 
Authorize the County of Marin Department of Finance to process a transfer of 
appropriations for $5,330 from fund 70071, fund center 6180011000, account 9000010 
Contingency General, to the same fund and fund center, account 5211500 Miscellaneous 
Services for $5,330. 
 
SAP budgetary adjustment document reference: FMBB Doc. # 100018531. 
 
Attachment. 
 
 

f:\waste\jpa\jpa agenda items\jpa 130124\sharps pharm.docx

 



 
  

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
January 15, 2013 
 
Michael Frost 
Executive Officer 
Marin County Hazardous and Solid Waste Joint Powers Authority 
P.O. Box 4186 
San Rafael, CA 94913 
 
Subject: Expansion of the Household Sharps Return Program 
 
Dear Mr. Frost: 
 
It has been requested that Marin County Environmental Health Services (EHS) expand 
the Sharps Return program through June 2013. The program currently consists of the 
EHS administration of the Sharps Return Program and the costs of sharps containers 
and collection and disposal of sharps waste. 
 
The expansion of services would encompass the production of brochures which would 
educate the public on the sharps return and pharmaceutical disposal programs. The 
brochure would include take-back locations and contact information to receive the most 
current program information. EHS will deliver brochures and educate current 
participants in the program, and mail an explanation letter with brochures for public 
distribution to other relevant facilities which are not current take-back locations. EHS will 
periodically update and print additional brochures for distribution. 
 
The services are detailed with proposed costs to June 30, 2013 on Exhibit A, with a 
proposed total cost of $5,330.  
 
Please let me know if you have any questions or would like to discuss any aspect of the 
program.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Whitney King 
Marin County Environmental Health Services 
415.473.6917 
 
    
 
 
 

 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SERVICES 
MARIN COUNTY CIVIC CENTER 

3501 CIVIC CENTER DRIVE, ROOM 236, SAN RAFAEL, CA 94903 
(415) 473–6907  FAX: (415) 473–4120 

www.marincounty.org/ehs 

 



EXHIBIT “A” 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

January 15 through June 30, 2013 

 

I. Initial design of the brochure and updating of brochure (20 hours)                         $1445 

(note: if a major re-design is required the cost will be more) 

 

II. Production of brochure, printing/folding costs with an initial batch  

    of 3,000  brochures                                                                                                           $1000                                     

 

III. Brochure Distribution 

a. Site visit and education to current take-back locations (20 hours)                    $1445 

b. Mail distribution to other relevant facilities— 

Administration and mailing costs to 20 locations                                                  $140 

 

IV. Potential increase in sharps program costs due to increased public  

       usage through June of 2013 (10%)                                                                                 $1300 

 

Total                                                                                                                                             $5330                                                                   



6 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:  January 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re: CalRecycle Presentation on AB 341 Mandatory Commercial Recycling 
 
 
Kaoru Cruz and Krysty Emery are representatives from the State of California’s 
Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle), Local 
Assistance and Market Development branch. 
 
Ms. Emery would like to share information with the Board on matters including 
the mandatory commercial recycling provisions of AB 341. 
 
For background on this subject, the “Frequently Asked Questions” section of 
CalRecycle’s website related to mandatory commercial recycling is attached. 
 
Attachment. 
 
Recommendation 
Receive presentation from CalRecycle. 
 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 130124\CalRecycle AB 341 Presentation.doc 



Mandatory Commercial Recycling

Frequently Asked Questions

Background

Assembly Bill (AB) 341 (Chapter 476, Statutes of 2011 [Chesbro, AB 341]) directed CalRecycle to develop and adopt 
regulations for mandatory commercial recycling. CalRecycle initiated formal rulemaking with a 45-day comment period 
beginning Oct. 28, 2011. The final regulation was approved by the Office of Administrative Law on May 7, 2012. Rulemaking 
documents and information have been archived.

This FAQ provides CalRecycle's responses to frequently asked questions from stakeholders about the requirements of the 
commercial recycling regulation under AB 341. Stakeholders have asked the following questions about the mandatory 
commercial recycling regulation. Please note some questions were received during initial rulemaking conducted jointly by 
CalRecycle and the Air Resources Board under AB 32, which was later cancelled due to the passage of AB 341.

CalRecycle recognizes that businesses and jurisdictions may have specific needs that are not addressed in the responses 
provided below. Please contact your Local Assistance and Market Development (LAMD) representative to discuss situations 
specific to a jurisdiction. Additional resources, including sample ordinances and commercial recycling case studies, can be 
found on the Institute for Local Government’s website. CalRecycle will continue to participate in workshops throughout the state 
in 2012 to provide assistance to stakeholders.

The FAQ is broken down into the following categories:

General

Business Requirements

Jurisdiction Requirements

Reporting

Compliance

Enforcement

General

What are the main differences in the regulations that were being developed by ARB and CalRecycle under AB 32 and 
the regulations that CalRecycle is now developing to support AB 341?

While there are some distinctions between the draft regulations in the prior ARB/CalRecycle rulemaking effort and the 
commercial recycling program outlined in AB 341, the fundamental framework and principal requirements are parallel. The 
primary difference between AB 341 and the draft ARB/CalRecycle regulations is that the threshold for businesses has changed 
so that all multi-family housing of five or more units are included in the statutory definition of business.

When will the regulations be adopted?

The Mandatory Commercial Recycling Regulation was approved by the Office of Administrative Law on May 7, 2012. Please 
see the Regulations page for more information.

What is the schedule for complying with the regulations?

On and after July 1, 2012, businesses are required to recycle, and jurisdictions will need to implement a program that includes 
education, outreach, and monitoring. The regulations also allow for phased-in implementation (see related questions). 
Jurisdictions are required to report in the 2012 Electronic Annual Report (due Aug. 1, 2013) on their initial education, outreach, 
and monitoring efforts, and, if applicable, on any enforcement activities or exemptions implemented by the jurisdiction. 

How many businesses in California will be impacted by AB 341?

CalRecycle estimates that about 470,000 businesses and multi-family residences will have to take specific actions to comply 
with the regulations. Of this total, about 250,000 are businesses and an additional 220,000 are multi-family dwellings. The 

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



affected businesses represent approximately 20 percent of California’s 1.3 million businesses and are responsible for about 75 
percent of the commercial waste generated in California. Using the California Department of Finance criteria for small business 
(fewer than 100 employees), about 90 percent of these affected businesses would be considered “small” businesses. The 
regulated multi-family dwellings account for about 60 percent of the waste generated by multi-family housing.

Will implementation of the mandatory commercial recycling regulations increase costs for jurisdictions?

The regulations are designed to allow jurisdictions flexibility to utilize their existing tools and solid waste management 
infrastructure to inform the businesses of the state requirement and to follow up with businesses that are not recycling. When 
jurisdictions implement the regulations, they will not be starting from zero. Most jurisdictions have some type of education, 
outreach, and monitoring programs for the commercial sector to build upon. For example, jurisdictions can use existing print 
material to include information for businesses about the requirement to recycle, and include information about how the 
businesses can recycle in the jurisdiction. Also, jurisdictions can use their own websites or request updates to franchised or 
permitted haulers' websites that provide information about the requirement to recycle and how businesses can recycle in the 
jurisdiction.

Regarding monitoring, the regulation allows for phased-in monitoring using existing mechanisms to inform the businesses of 
the requirement if they are not recycling. Some examples of monitoring include using the hauler’s sales representatives or 
annual business renewal license letters to inform businesses about AB 341, and/or using code enforcement officers that may 
already be visiting the business to provide information about recycling requirements. These are just a few examples of the 
different approaches that jurisdictions can take to monitor commercial recycling efforts.

For reporting, jurisdictions will use the existing Electronic Annual Report to inform CalRecycle staff about their education, 
outreach, and monitoring programs (see related question).

Are jurisdictions and/or businesses required to divert 75% of their waste?

In addition to Mandatory Commercial Recycling, AB 341 sets a statewide goal for 75% disposal reduction by the year 2020. 
This is not written as a 75% diversion mandate for each jurisdiction. The 50% disposal reduction mandate still stands for cities, 
counties, and State agencies (including community colleges) under AB 939 and AB 75, respectively. CalRecycle will continue 
to evaluate program implementation as it has in the past through the Annual Report review process for entities subject to either 
AB 939 or AB 75.

Similarly, AB 341 does not mandate a diversion goal for businesses - it simply requires that they implement a commercial 
recycling program.

Are there any costs savings associated with the statute and regulations?

The regulations do not impose additional requirements on businesses or local governments beyond what is required in statute. 
However, CalRecycle expects that implementation of the statute’s requirements (both for businesses and jurisdictions) will 
result in an estimated statewide average annual cost savings of $40 million-$60 million for the 2012-2020 time period. 
Furthermore, individual businesses may realize cost savings due to reduced rates for recycling services and avoided disposal 
costs.

What benefits to California are anticipated due to the regulations?

Implementation of the regulations is estimated to result in overall cost savings to California businesses during the 2012 through 
2020 time frame. Previous studies on the economic impact of recycling versus disposal have found significant positive 
economic effects in California. The benefits from increased recycling will not only generate new jobs, but will also result in 
additional goods and services. CalRecycle expects that implementation of these regulations will increase the availability of 
recyclable materials, provide increased feedstock for recycled-content product manufacturers, and expand the opportunity for 
recycling manufacturing facilities and associated job creation in California. 

Expanding and/or developing new recycling manufacturing infrastructure in California makes sense from a greenhouse gas 
emissions standpoint, as most emission reductions occur at the point of remanufacturing and not at the origin of recycling. 
While some materials collected in California remain in the state for remanufacturing, the majority of the recycled materials are 
shipped to other parts of the United States or to global markets. CalRecycle will continue to work with the Air Resources Board 
and other agencies on efforts to provide incentives for the enhancement of in-state recycling manufacturing. 

As a result of increasing recycling, CalRecycle also expects that there will be reduced emissions of methane, air toxics, and 
criteria pollutants from landfills. Furthermore, diverting organic materials into compost products will result in positive impacts on 
soil and water quality. 

The regulations also will help jurisdictions to develop or enhance commercial recycling programs, help the state to further 
reduce disposal at landfills, and assist in meeting the state’s new 75 percent diversion goal. The long-term results will be 
positive for all entities -- businesses grow, tax revenue is generated, California jobs are created, California’s dependence on 
volatile foreign recycling markets is reduced, the amount of waste sent to landfills is reduced, resources are conserved, new 
sources of biofuels and energy are created, and greenhouse gas emissions are significantly reduced. 

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



Business Requirements

What is the definition of a "business" and which businesses are required to comply?

“Business” means any commercial or public entity that generates four or more cubic yards of commercial solid waste per week, 
including but not limited to, a firm, partnership, proprietorship, joint-stock company, corporation, or association that is organized 
as a for-profit or non-profit entity, strip mall (e.g. property complex containing two or more commercial entities), industrial 
facility, school, school district, California State University, community colleges, University of California, special district or a 
federal, state, local, regional agency or facility. For purposes of this Chapter, “business” also includes a multi-family residential 
dwelling of five units or more regardless of the amount of commercial solid waste generated. The regulation does not apply to 
single-family dwellings, multi-family dwellings of four or fewer units, or those businesses that generate less than four cubic 
yards of commercial solid waste per week. Local jurisdictions can also establish other specific exemptions. Typically, since 
waste service is identified by round numbers, e.g., 1 cubic yard, 2 cubic yards, etc., it is assumed that a hauler or jurisdiction 
will educate/outreach/monitor to businesses that generate 4 cubic yards or more of waste.

What is "commercial solid waste?"

Commercial solid waste is material generated by businesses, as defined above, that is generally disposed of in a solid waste 
landfill. Commercial solid waste does not include industrial waste. According to 2008 Statewide Waste Characterization data, 
the commercial sector generates nearly three-fourths of the solid waste in California. Most of the material disposed from this 
sector is readily recyclable.

Are industrial facilities/sites and waste generated at industrial facilities/sites subject to the regulation?

Industrial waste, defined in Section 17225.35 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations, is not subject to the 
requirements of the regulation. However, commercial solid waste generated at an industrial facility or site, for example paper, 
plastic, metals, cardboard, etc., could be subject to the requirements of the regulation provided the facility/site generates four or 
more cubic yards of commercial solid waste per week.

Are State facilities subject to the regulation?

It is important to note that many State agencies already operate under a 50% waste disposal reduction mandate under AB 75. 
AB 341 did not add or change the 50% diversion requirements for agencies subject to AB 75. However, it is important to note 
that the definition in the regulation of a business includes public entities, including state agencies, schools, school districts, 
California State Universities, community colleges, the University of California, special districts and federal, state, local, regional 
agencies or facilities. Thus, any State facility that generates four or more cubic yards of solid waste per week is subject to 
these new recycling requirements, if they are not already recycling.

Are public housing complexes operated by local Public Housing Authorities subject to the regulation?

Complexes of 5 or more units operated by a Housing Authority would be required to provide recycling to tenants. CalRecycle is 
working to get the word out about Mandatory Commercial recycling to Housing Authorities.

Are mobile home and RV parks subject to the regulation?

If mobile homes, RV parks condominiums, and townhomes are considered single family residences by the jurisdiction, then 
they would not be subject to the requirements. However, jurisdictions are allowed to implement more stringent requirements. 
For example, for mobile home parks a jurisdiction may consider current service type and zoning to make the determination if 
mobile home parks should be subject to the regulation. If a mobile home park is serviced by the residential collection program, 
the jurisdiction may consider a mobile home park of this type is not subject to the regulation. However, if the mobile home park 
receives commercial service or has commercial zoning, the jurisdiction should work with its Attorney or Counsel to make the 
determination if the mobile home park is a covered entity. 

For RV parks that operate on a rental basis and serve more of a recreational use, the jurisdiction might consider this a 
commercial business, and apply the waste disposal threshold to determine if the park is subject to the regulation. 

Please clarify what is meant by a four cubic yard threshold.

The definition of business in the statute and regulation includes any commercial or public entity that generates four or more 
cubic yards of commercial solid waste per week. SB 1018 was signed by the Governor at the end of June 2012. The bill 
included clean-up language relating to the MCR threshold for businesses i.e., clarifying that it is four or more cubic yards of 
trash weekly rather than more than four cubic yards a week. The entire bill is available online.

What activities constitute business diversion?

Businesses are required to select from any one or combination of the following activities:

Separate recyclable materials from their solid waste stream and either self-haul, subscribe to a hauler, and/or allow the 
pickup of recyclables, so that the separated material is diverted from disposal to recycling, reuse, or composting activities; 
and/or 

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



Subscribe to a recycling service that includes mixed waste processing as part of a system in combination with other 
programs, activities, or processes that divert recyclable materials from disposal and yields diversion results comparable to 
source separation (see related question).

What materials do businesses need to recycle under the regulation?

The regulation does not specify how much or what type of materials must be recycled by businesses, nor does it limit the types 
of materials that could be included in a recycling or composting program. The regulation does require that jurisdictions inform 
businesses about the state requirement to recycle and how they can recycle in the jurisdiction. Although composting and other 
organics management activities will assist in reducing a covered entity’s waste generation, it should be noted that legislation 
specifically requires those meeting the threshold requirements to arrange for recycling services.

CalRecycle understands that each jurisdiction has its own unique set of circumstances, including different types of commercial 
generators, and is in a better position to determine what programs will work best to divert material from the commercial sector. 
The regulation provides flexibility and does not dictate how a jurisdiction must implement a program or specify that a jurisdiction 
must implement a commercial collection program. 

While the regulation does not require that jurisdictions implement a commercial collection program, every jurisdiction in the 
state already has some type of existing commercial recycling program. Some communities have commercial recycling 
programs that collect the same materials that are included in their residential single-stream program. Some communities offer 
organics recycling and/or construction and demolition debris recycling programs. Other communities offer source-separated 
commercial recycling programs in combination with mixed waste processing of materials. Rural communities that do not have 
an on-site commercial collection recycling infrastructure offer drop-off programs. Finally, many businesses utilize self-haul, 
back-haul and independent recyclers to recycle. Some programs target specific business materials for recycling while others do 
not provide this level of detail. The types and sizes of businesses and industry can vary, as can the amount and types of 
material generated per week. 

Are school districts and municipal entities required to recycle?

To the extent that public entities, including schools, school districts and other municipal entities, generate four or more cubic 
yards per week of commercial solid waste, then they would be required to recycle. The jurisdiction is required to provide 
information about the recycling requirement to schools, school districts and municipal entities. Complying with the requirement 
to recycle is the responsibility of the school district, municipal entity, etc. CalRecycle staff can provide assistance to the 
jurisdiction in working with school districts and other government agencies.

Will airports be included in the regulation, and how will air carriers be affected by the rule?

The regulatory definition of a business includes airports. Therefore, airports would be required to recycle solid waste generated 
on the airport’s premises using one or more of the methods outlined in the regulation. In addition, airports can require airlines to 
handle the waste that is removed from the aircraft in California in a prescribed manner. The airlines would be required to 
comply with the airport’s requirements, provided there is no conflict with federal requirements for solid waste handling (e.g., the 
USDA requirement that food waste from international flights be incinerated or sterilized). In cases of conflict, federal law 
preempts state, local or private regulation. 

Will cruise ships be affected by the regulation?

The guidance on air carriers also applies to cruise ships (see above question).

With regards to strip malls, the regulation states that “the definition includes strip malls containing two or more 
commercial entities.” Does this mean that the strip mall complex that a business resides in is required to recycle at a 
minimum level, even if many of the businesses within that complex share recycling services?

If the strip mall complex as a whole generates four or more cubic yards per week of commercial solid waste, then the individual 
businesses in the strip mall are required to recycle. Additionally, the regulation allows the property owner of the strip mall 
complex to require tenants to recycle and the regulation requires tenants to comply.

Is there an exact minimum amount of recycling that is required of a business or complex with shared services? For 
example, if a complex just needs to recycle, would the smallest recycling container offered by a jurisdiction be 
adequate for the entire complex? Would the complex be compliant by recycling only cardboard while disposing all 
other materials?

AB 341 and the regulation do not specify a minimum amount of recycling. Each business will determine the level of service and 
materials to be diverted, subject to local requirements. Additionally, a local jurisdiction may implement more prescriptive 
requirements through ordinances or policies, but this is not required by law.

If there is a business that has an extensive recycling program located in a strip mall, would that business be held 
liable if the other tenants in the strip mall are not recycling?

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



No, the business would not be held liable if the other tenants in the strip mall are not recycling. However, as part of its 
monitoring program, the local jurisdiction would notify the businesses in the strip mall that are not recycling of the state 
requirement to recycle and how they can recycle. 

Our agency has several work sites that do not typically generate four cubic yards of waste per week. However, the 
sites periodically have special events, for example construction projects, that would generate four or more cubic 
yards for that week. Are these sites subject to the regulation? 

During the time period that a site generates and subscribes to four cubic yards of waste service, then the business will need to 
recycle. In addition, if each site has individual waste collection, then each site operated by a business or agency would be 
considered separately in determining whether the regulation is applicable.

I own a business that usually generates 3 cubic yards of refuse per week, but occasionally uses a 6 cubic yard 
container to collect its own street sweepings. The host jurisdiction does not have a program for recycling or 
composting street sweepings. Would my business be expected to recycle this material?

The regulation does not address all waste streams, but it does allow flexibility to businesses and jurisdictions to address issues 
such as street sweepings in their individual programs. The diversion of street sweepings will depend on if there are diversion 
programs the business can utilize, such as a taking the material to a compost facility. The business should work with its hauler 
and the jurisdiction to determine if viable diversion opportunities for any specialized materials are available.

What is meant by subscribing to a service that includes mixed waste processing that diverts recyclable materials from 
disposal and that yields diversion results comparable to source separation?

Subsection 18837(a)(2) specifies a method that a business may take to meet the requirement to recycle the business’s 
commercial solid waste: by subscribing to a recycling service that may include mixed waste processing that diverts recyclable 
and/or compostable materials from disposal, yielding diversion results comparable to source separation. 

In reality, however, there is not sufficient data or standards available to make a comparison to source separation, and therefore 
CalRecycle is not establishing such a threshold at this time. The language in the existing statute has been interpreted 
differently by various stakeholders regarding whether or not it establishes a particular threshold for mixed waste processing. On 
its face, the statute clearly does not do so. Instead, statute has provided a subjective standard to be evaluated on a case-by-
case basis that allows flexibility for compliance. While Subsection 42649.2(b)(2) allows for a recycling service that may include 
mixed waste processing comparable to source separation as part of that recycling service, by using the term “may” instead of 
“shall” in this section, it does not require it. That is, mixed waste processing is not necessarily required and therefore a 
recycling service can include other programmatic aspects. Thus, the recycling service may include more than just mixed waste 
recycling (consistent with the “may” in statute), but also emphasizes the need for the overall recycling service to yield 
comparable results to the other compliance alternative in (b)(1) (source separation). Mixed waste processing is intended here 
to include a myriad of processes to recover recyclable and/or compostable materials from solid waste. This Subsection is not 
intended to change marketplace dynamics or express a preference for any particular diversion activity, program or process 
over another. It is intended to provide local governments with flexibility in designing programs specific to their community. 

While no single quantitative recovery rate standard exists, the section does establish an expectation that overall diversion 
results from a recycling service that includes mixed waste processing, and that may include other programs and activities, will 
be comparable to the overall diversion results of recycling services that rely on source-separated processing of recyclables, 
and that may also include other programs and activities. In lieu of a quantitative standard, CalRecycle will review jurisdiction 
compliance on a case-by-case basis using the “good faith effort” standard as already provided in statute (See PRC 41825(e)). 
As part of its evaluation of local jurisdiction program implementation, the diversion performance of a particular facility may be 
considered by CalRecycle to see if the facility’s recovery appears to be significantly low (also see section 18839(b). In this case 
CalRecycle would take into account relevant factors such as, but not limited to, the character and composition of the solid 
waste stream generated in the jurisdiction, the nature of collection systems in the jurisdiction, and the nature and amount of 
feedstock processed at facilities used for solid waste generated in the jurisdiction. That is, CalRecycle would conduct a case-by
-case qualitative evaluation in the context of the entire set of programs in a jurisdiction, whether the facilities involved are mixed 
waste processing or single-stream material recovery facilities. 

Additionally, businesses that choose to subscribe to a recycling service are not required by statute to determine if a mixed 
waste processing facility that is part of that service is yielding comparable results (e.g., they do not have to survey facilities and 
ask for recovery data). 

As for whether or not CalRecycle should develop a quantitative standard of what constitutes “comparable to source separation” 
for mixed waste processing, CalRecycle has committed to working on this issue in the future. Prior to the formal rulemaking, 
this was the subject of considerable discussion and controversy. A working group convened by CalRecycle determined that 
there is not sufficient information at this time to promulgate such a standard. This is due in part because of variations in 
feedstock, processing technologies, residuals composition, lack of reporting, etc. However, CalRecycle recognizes that future 
work is needed on this issue as part of its other work on AB 341 (report on how to meet 75% diversion) and that this may lead 
to future rulemakings that establish performance requirements for mixed waste processing facilities. 

The regulation states that self-hauling recyclables would be enough for a business to be considered recycling. Does 
self-hauling include taking recyclables from a business to an employee’s or owner’s residence to recycle?

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



In general, self-haul refers to hauling done outside of a franchise agreement. There may be local restrictions that would pertain 
to this particular scenario. This level of detail would need to be addressed locally, as it is not specified in the regulation. Current 
examples of self-haul requirements implemented by California jurisdictions include:

Sacramento County addresses self-haul requirements in its ordinance information booklet (see p.9) (PDF, 500 KB). 
Although it does not address the specific detail in question, it is a good demonstration of how such details could be 
addressed. 

Santa Barbara County provides another example of how to address the self-haul issue by requiring specific documentation 
and following-up with a site visit. Information about this program can be found at the county’s recycling resources website. 

Can a business donate or sell its recyclables and still be in compliance

It is an existing right of businesses to donate or sell their recyclable material.

What information will businesses need to provide and who will it be provided to in order to demonstrate compliance?

AB 341 and the regulation do not require businesses to keep numerical data about recycled materials, but local jurisdictions 
may choose to enact more stringent requirements to track recycling activities. Thus, independent of this regulation, information 
about recycling efforts may be requested from the jurisdiction, or by haulers or other agencies assigned to work with 
businesses on behalf of the jurisdiction. The information requested will assist the jurisdiction in determining the effectiveness of 
its education, outreach, and monitoring efforts. The jurisdiction may want to know more about what types of materials the 
business generates and the materials that are being recycled or otherwise diverted from disposal. 

We are a major recycling company in California. We process waste generated on site as well. The remainder of the 
waste that has no economic value or use is treated and shipped to landfills to be used as ground cover. In essence 
everything we process is recycled. How do we document our efforts for the jurisdiction? Would we be exempt from 
the regulation? 

There is no formal exemption process at the state level. The jurisdiction in which the business is located makes the 
determination as to whether to allow exemptions. Additionally, for this example, an exemption would not appear to be 
necessary as the business already is recycling and therefore would be meeting the requirements of the law.

Jurisdiction Requirements

Will my city/county need to adopt a mandatory commercial recycling ordinance?

No. Some communities may choose to adopt a mandatory commercial recycling ordinance; however, an ordinance is not 
required. Approaches to enforcement might include: 1) requiring businesses to participate in the recycling services that are 
already available in the city or county, 2) requiring businesses to use a mixed waste processing facility, or 3) implementing a 
mandatory commercial recycling program using an ordinance.

A number of communities, such as Sacramento, Rancho Cordova, and Chula Vista, have implemented a mandatory 
commercial recycling ordinance. Please visit the Institute for Local Government’s commercial recycling website to view sample 
ordinances, case studies, and sample outreach, education, and enforcement examples and review information provided by a 
number of jurisdictions that have implemented mandatory commercial recycling programs.

If my jurisdiction already has an ordinance in place requiring recycling for commercial and/or multifamily customers, 
but the thresholds are higher than those specified in legislation and the supporting regulation, will we need to modify 
our ordinance?

If a jurisdiction already has a mandatory commercial recycling ordinance in place but the thresholds would not capture all of the 
businesses covered by the threshold outlined in AB 341 (namely businesses that generated four or more cubic yards of solid 
waste or multifamily complexes with five or more units), then the ordinance does not need to be amended, but the jurisdiction 
would be responsible for providing education, outreach and monitoring to the additional businesses that would be subject to the 
mandatory commercial recycling provision.

What are the jurisdiction's requirements in terms of providing education, outreach, and monitoring to businesses? 

The regulation requires jurisdictions to implement education, outreach, and monitoring programs to inform businesses of the 
state requirement to recycle and how they can recycle in the jurisdiction. Jurisdictions should choose methods to provide 
education and outreach that maximize existing resources including using existing websites, brochures, on-site meetings, etc. 
For example, if the hauler already sends out a sales representative to work with businesses that are not recycling, then the 
hauler's sales representative could inform the business of the state requirement, and then assist the business in determining 
the best approach to recycle. Other options include using the jurisdiction’s own staff, community groups, or independent 
recyclers to inform the businesses of the state requirement and how the businesses can recycle in the jurisdiction. If the 
jurisdiction already sends out letters to businesses regarding recycling opportunities, the letter could include information about 
the state requirement.

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



The requirement for jurisdictions to monitor means identifying and notifying businesses that are not recycling and informing 
them about the state law and the various ways that they could recycle. The methods for monitoring can differ greatly depending 
upon a jurisdiction’s resources, hauler arrangement, etc. Some jurisdictions may choose to phase in monitoring by targeting the 
largest businesses the first year and bringing in other businesses in subsequent years. The jurisdiction may choose to utilize 
the hauler to monitor and notify businesses that are not recycling. The jurisdiction's Local Assistance and Market Development 
representative can help assess if the monitoring approach seems reasonable. 

CalRecycle also recommends that jurisdictions view the Institute for Local Government webinar titled Understanding 
California’s Proposed Commercial Recycling Regulations: What Local Agencies Need to Know About the Education, Outreach 
and Monitoring Requirements. This webinar, the fifth in a series, helps local officials understand the new regulation, 
emphasizing what they need to do to be in compliance with the education, outreach and monitoring requirements. The webinar 
also includes information about new tools available to help local agencies meet these challenges. 

Would a jurisdiction be able to phase in education, outreach, and monitoring to different generator types, areas of the 
jurisdiction, etc., using a phased-in approach, or do jurisdictions need to ensure that education, outreach, and 
monitoring efforts to address all businesses in the jurisdiction are in place by July 1, 2012?

Yes, the jurisdiction can phase in education, outreach, and monitoring efforts. For example, a jurisdiction may want to educate 
and monitor in the first year the multi-family complexes that have 16 units or greater because, by law, they have an on-site 
manager available to coordinate with. Jurisdictions also have the flexibility to decide how they develop and implement 
education and outreach. For example, if multi-family complexes have owners that are located in other areas of the state or live 
outside California, then the jurisdiction might take various approaches to contacting the owner to inform them of the state 
requirement to recycle at the complex, such as sending a letter, including information on the solid waste bill, etc.

Another approach in larger jurisdictions might be to target the largest businesses—say the 20 percent largest businesses 
based upon the amount of solid waste that they dispose—and then the next year move to the next largest group of businesses, 
and so on. The jurisdiction should communicate with its Local Assistance and Market Development representative to discuss 
the jurisdiction’s plans for a reasonable time period to phase in its program.

If a jurisdiction opts to phase-in education, outreach and/or monitoring, what would be an acceptable timeline for the 
phase-in period?

The timeline for phasing in education, outreach, and/or monitoring efforts would be determined on a case by case basis in 
discussion with the jurisdiction’s Local Assistance and Market Development representative.

Is there a rural exemption in the current regulatory language? What are the general provisions that may be or are 
available to rural jurisdictions under the regulation?

No, neither AB 341 nor the regulation includes a rural exemption. The regulation is designed to provide flexibility to jurisdictions 
to design programs that fit their needs. The regulation in Section 18838 does state that CalRecycle may consider factors for 
rural jurisdictions in its evaluation of a jurisdiction’s good-faith effort to implement diversion programs. Factors for rural 
jurisdictions include small geographic size, low population density, and/or distance to markets. The Final Statement of Reasons 
(PDF, 311 KB) also provides guidance to rural jurisdictions on commercial recycling education, outreach, and monitoring 
programs. In terms of providing education and outreach, rural jurisdictions could include information (i.e., about the state 
requirement for businesses to recycle and how businesses can recycle in the rural jurisdiction) using an annual letter to 
businesses for business license renewals. For jurisdictions that do not have staff and/or a hauler to ascertain which businesses 
are not recycling, then an annual letter would suffice. The letter could be sent electronically or by hard copy depending upon 
the rural jurisdiction’s situation.

Do we need to have a franchise agreement for recycling collection services to comply with the regulation?

No, a franchise agreement is not required to comply with the regulation. 

Will existing franchises need to be amended to comply with this regulation?

It will be up to the local jurisdiction to make such a determination. For example, jurisdictions may find that the education, 
outreach, and/or monitoring programs in their current contracts can meet their needs. Thus, jurisdictions may not need to 
amend the franchise agreement.

Local jurisdictions may have franchise agreements that do not require commercial recycling, but include a voluntary 
commercial recycling program. Under the regulation, would these businesses be required to subscribe to the 
recycling service?

The regulation provides flexibility to businesses and requires that businesses choose one or any combination of the following 
activities:

Separating recyclable materials from their solid waste stream and either self-hauling, subscribing to a hauler, and/or 
allowing the pickup of recyclables, so that the separated material is diverted from disposal to recycling/reuse/composting 
activities; and/or

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



Subscribing to a recycling service that includes mixed waste processing as part of a system in combination with other 
programs, activities or processes that diverts recyclable materials from disposal and yields diversion results comparable to 
source separation.

If a jurisdiction has additional specific requirements for businesses, they would inform the businesses of those requirements.

My franchise agreement already requires commercial recycling service be provided to any business that requests it, 
but my hauler has indicated that it will need a significant rate increase to comply with the regulation. What additional 
requirements will be placed on the hauler that would result in cost increases?

The regulations are not directed towards haulers. Businesses are required to recycle, and jurisdictions are required to provide 
education, outreach, and monitoring to the businesses. Jurisdictions will determine how best to implement their education, 
outreach, and monitoring programs and whether they must place additional requirements upon the haulers and/or businesses 
in order to comply with the regulations. The regulations provide flexibility and do not dictate how a jurisdiction must implement a 
program.

Our franchised hauler has indicated that all of its trucks currently have full routes. Therefore, to add a recycling route 
for commercial customers would mean the purchase of additional equipment and containers for recycling service. 
Will there be any financial assistance available to help offset the costs associated with implementing the regulations?

There is some limited financial assistance available through CalRecycle. This financial assistance includes existing grant 
programs, such as CalRecycle’s City/County Beverage Container Block Grant and the Beverage Container Recycling Grants 
(Competitive) programs, to assist with offsetting costs for implementing recycling programs that include diversion of beverage 
containers. Please see our website for additional details.

Additionally, the regulations allow for phased-in implementation to help in reducing costs. Thus, if the jurisdiction and hauler 
find that there are a large number of businesses that are not currently recycling, the jurisdiction and hauler could target a 
certain number of businesses and bring them into the program using a phased-in approach.

Is there anything in the regulatory language that includes a stipulation that the jurisdiction would be required to 
provide a curbside program? What are the specific requirements on jurisdictions to comply with the regulation?

No, a curbside program is not required. Jurisdictions are not required to provide any specified type of commercial collection 
program. Section 18837 of the draft regulations requires jurisdictions to provide education, outreach, and monitoring to affected 
businesses to inform them of the state requirement to recycle and to tell businesses how they can recycle in the jurisdiction. 
Regarding informing and educating businesses about recycling opportunities in the jurisdiction, the types and combinations of 
commercial recycling programs vary by jurisdiction and can include curbside collection, drop-offs, and utilizing mixed waste 
processing. Additionally, businesses may choose to self-haul material to a drop-off or recycling center, back-haul recyclables to 
a distribution center, arrange for the pick-up of recyclables, etc.

Many restaurant patrons enjoy their food and beverages at work, home and in locations other than point of purchase. 
We have found residential and commercial recycling programs can be incongruent. How or will the rulemaking 
process address these issues?

The regulation is focused on diverting the recyclable material disposed of by the business or at the business location. However, 
jurisdictions may want to consider current programs in place that serve residents and interface with commercial waste. There is 
a nexus between the material generated at business locations, for example product packaging, carry out bags and take out 
boxes, that may become waste at another business location (i.e., place of work) or at the customer’s residence. An opportunity 
may exist in the development of education and outreach methodologies, depending on existing infrastructure and resources, to 
assist customers in making better decisions about managing materials that leave a business location.

Do we need to develop a specific type of program (e.g., commercial food waste collection, on-site recycling collection, 
construction and demolition debris recycling) to comply with the regulations?

Jurisdictions are required to conduct education, outreach, and monitoring programs to inform businesses of the state 
requirement to recycle and provide information about the recycling opportunities that are available within the jurisdiction. 
However, a jurisdiction does not need to implement a specific type of collection program to comply with these requirements. 
The regulations do not require specific programs, how much must be recycled, or what type of materials must be recycled by 
businesses. The regulations also do not limit the types of materials that could be included in a recycling program. By not 
specifying which materials must be recycled, jurisdictions, businesses, and service providers have greater flexibility in 
determining the most cost-effective approach(es) to commercial recycling.

Do the regulations change the provisions of transformation as provided for in Public Resources Code section 41783? 

Subsection (e)(3) of the regulations clarifies that the provisions of Public Resources Code section 41783 are not affected by 
this regulation. Commercial solid waste may be taken to a transformation facility, as long as the existing requirement in Public 
Resources Code section 41783 for front-end processing to remove recyclable materials to the maximum extent feasible is met. 
For example, front-end processing includes source-separating recyclables or processing material at a mixed waste processing 

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



facility. The subsection clarifies that there is no change to the existing provisions of section 41783 of the Public Resources 
Code related to transformation that allow jurisdictions to reduce their per-capita disposal rate by no more than 10 percent.

How does a jurisdiction determine the amount of solid waste a business generates? Is it what the business 
subscribes to, i.e. a four cubic yard solid waste bin, even if it only fills the bin half full?

The determination of whether a business meets the four cubic yard threshold is based upon the level of service to which the 
business subscribes and not if they fill the bin every week. For example, a business would meet the threshold if they subscribe 
to having one four cubic yard refuse container picked up each week, or, conversely, a single one cubic yard refuse container 
serviced four times per week, etc. The regulation also distinguishes between recyclable materials that already are separated 
prior to any solid waste being discarded, versus potentially recyclable materials that are not separated and instead are included 
in the solid waste being discarded (within this definition the term “generates” refers to commercial solid waste produced and 
disposed, excluding previously separated recyclable materials, and not the amount of solid waste diverted plus the amount of 
solid waste disposed). For example, if a business has refuse service for a 3 cubic yard bin serviced once per week and also 
has a 2 cubic yard recycling bin serviced once per week, this business would be generating less than 4 cubic yards of trash per 
week and would not meet the threshold that would require it to recycle under the regulation (Note: In this scenario the business 
is also already recycling). Requiring the threshold to only include solid waste should make it easier for a jurisdiction to 
determine which businesses are required to comply with the regulation. A jurisdiction does not have to conduct a waste 
generation study to determine if four or more cubic yards of commercial solid waste is generated; instead, a jurisdiction can, for 
example, review waste subscription service.

How should a jurisdiction determine the businesses that are subject to the legislation and regulations?

Jurisdictions can utilize hauler records to determine which businesses dispose of four or more cubic yards of solid waste per 
week. Some jurisdictions, for example those in rural areas, might find it challenging to determine which businesses generate 
four or more cubic yards of commercial solid waste per week, so they may choose to provide education and outreach to all of 
the businesses in the community and inform them of the state requirement. In large jurisdictions, or ones serviced by multiple 
haulers, a more customized approach may be necessary. Local Assistance and Market Development staff can assist in 
developing a strategy for identifying businesses subject to the regulations.

Are there any exemptions for temporary waste generating activities, such as filming locations, special events, 
seasonal store sites, etc.?

There are no exemptions for temporary activities such as filming locations, special events, seasonal store sites, etc. 
Businesses engaged in temporary activities such as these should contact the local jurisdiction to determine how best to 
proceed with diverting recyclables.

Temporary waste-generating activities may already be tracked by the jurisdiction. Special event licenses and filming permits, 
for example, may be required for operations of this type. Temporary retail sites may also be tracked through the jurisdiction’s 
Business License or Tax Collection office. The jurisdiction contact(s) tasked with implementing education, outreach, and 
monitoring efforts in relation to the mandatory commercial recycling program can work with other departments to determine the 
best way to provide education and outreach to temporary commercial waste generators, including identifying recycling 
opportunities, and monitoring the results of these efforts. It should be noted that some temporary uses, such as filming 
locations, may currently have contracts to handle their recyclable material through the permanent studio site. Additional 
guidance regarding recycling at special events and location film shooting can be found on the CalRecycle website. 

Please clarify what is meant by authorizing a local agency to charge and collect a fee from a commercial waste 
generator to recover the local agency’s costs incurred in complying with the commercial solid waste recycling 
program requirements.

AB 341’s fee provision is separate from authorization for jurisdictions to charge a fee for implementing its recycling programs 
under The Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989 (Chapter 1095, Statutes of 1989 [Sher, AB 939]). AB 341 provides that if 
a jurisdiction already has a commercial recycling program in place that meets the education, outreach, and monitoring 
requirements, it is not required to implement an additional program. If, however, the jurisdiction needs to implement a new 
commercial recycling program in order to comply with AB 341, then it is authorized to charge a new program fee to cover the 
costs of the new program. Similarly, if a jurisdiction has to make additions to an existing commercial recycling program in order 
to comply with the mandatory recycling regulations, it is authorized to charge a program fee for the costs of implementing the 
additional program features. In such as instance, depending on the nature and extent of the additional features, it may be 
advisable for a jurisdiction to create a new program and charge a fee for the implementation costs. For additional guidance on 
when this would be the most feasible cause of action, please contact your LAMD representative.

Is a webpage with information about the mandatory commercial recycling requirement enough?

The jurisdiction should demonstrate a real effort to develop and implement an effective outreach program. Information should 
be placed on the jurisdiction’s website (and the franchise hauler’s website, if applicable) that informs businesses of the state 
requirement to recycle and explains how businesses can recycle in the jurisdiction. For example, information placed on the 
website might include contact information for the franchise hauler for service information, locations to self�haul recyclables to, 
recyclers that will collect specific materials, information about mixed waste processing options versus source separated 
recycling options, etc. In addition to a webpage, the jurisdiction may consider sending out emails to its business listings. Some 

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



jurisdictions are using Twitter, Facebook, and other social media outlets to communicate with businesses. A jurisdiction might 
also collaborate with local business organizations to help send out emails to their members, place information in their 
newsletters, or place information on their websites. The California Chamber of Commerce has also offered to assist 
CalRecycle inform businesses by utilizing its electronic Alert Newsletter.

For any type of outreach methodology, the jurisdiction will need to assess the tool(s) needed to convey the message to 
businesses and reach the businesses in their communities. As part of the Electronic Annual Report review (see related 
question), CalRecycle will be looking to make sure the education, outreach, and monitoring programs are being implemented, 
but also taking into account the jurisdiction's specific circumstances.

How frequently should outreach information be provided to businesses?

The jurisdiction has the flexibility to determine the frequency that outreach should be provided based upon what will work best 
for the jurisdiction. Providing outreach once per year would be typical. The jurisdiction should communicate with its Local 
Assistance and Market Development representative about the jurisdiction’s outreach plans to allow staff the opportunity to 
provide early guidance on whether the approach seems reasonable.

Some examples of outreach include utilizing existing print pieces and, when updating an existing brochure, letter, or newsletter 
that is sent out to businesses, adding information about the state requirement to recycle and the recycling opportunities 
available to recycle in the jurisdiction. Print information could be sent annually to account for turnover, etc., but it could be done 
more frequently or less frequently depending on what works best for the jurisdiction.

If information is already sent out annually to businesses, then information about the state requirement for businesses to recycle 
could be incorporated. Or, if a jurisdiction's budget does not allow for sending out a printed material to all businesses annually, 
then perhaps a phased-in approach would work better. For example, a certain number of printed materials can be sent to a 
specified group of businesses each year, or a jurisdiction may find that it is most effective to provide a brochure on site visits, 
etc. Rural jurisdictions might include information in the annual letter to businesses for business license renewals about the 
state requirement for businesses to recycle and how businesses can recycle in the rural jurisdiction (e.g., drop-off programs, on
-site collection, etc.). The jurisdiction may also choose to coordinate with the local Chamber of Commerce and Apartment 
Associations to assist in disseminating information. The Institute for Local Government has developed sample brochures and 
outreach materials for jurisdictions to use.

I have been unsuccessful in the past in making contact with the commercial sector. Are there any recommendations 
for making contact with businesses?

Direct contact with the business community will ensure that the businesses are informed of the requirement to recycle. 
CalRecycle encourages jurisdictions to include information about the state requirement to recycle as part of any of the activities 
where the jurisdiction, hauler(s), and/or community organizations make direct contact with businesses.

Examples of direct contact include presenting at business forums, such as the Chamber of Commerce, having the hauler talk 
to the business, and/or providing technical assistance through waste assessments to explain the state requirement and how 
businesses can recycle in the jurisdiction.

Always provide a contact person that businesses can call to ask follow�up questions. Community groups such as Heal the Bay 
and others may be able to assist with making direct contact with businesses. Community groups frequently engage in outreach 
to small businesses. They might be able to contact businesses in a particular area and meet one on one with businesses to 
explain how they can recycle in the community and inform the businesses of the state requirement to recycle. 

The jurisdiction’s hauler or haulers may already contact businesses directly through their sales staff or staff that conduct waste 
assessments for businesses. The hauler can also assist to inform the businesses that are not currently recycling about the 
state requirement to recycle and explain how they can recycle. The hauler can then report back to the jurisdiction on those 
businesses that are not currently recycling. In some jurisdictions the hauler may already be providing this type of information to 
the jurisdiction.

Another approach is to determine if the jurisdiction’s staff may already be working with businesses and can provide information 
to businesses on the state requirement to recycle. For example, some communities may utilize their health and/or building 
inspectors to inform businesses as they are working with them on inspecting an establishment, or the local recycling 
coordinator may conduct waste assessments and can include information about the state requirement to recycle.

Is it a jurisdiction’s responsibility to provide outreach, education, and monitoring regarding the regulation to 
individual tenants of an apartment complex?

It is the jurisdiction’s responsibility to provide education and outreach to the apartment owners and to monitor the recycling 
activities at each complex. The property owner, management company, hauler, or jurisdiction can prepare and provide 
information about the recycling program to the tenants, for example including a flyer as part of the welcome package, so that 
tenants know the opportunity is available. The jurisdiction can assess if the information the property owner or management 
company, for example signage, lease language, welcome package flyer, etc. is sufficient to inform residents about the 
program. The jurisdiction and/or hauler can provide property owners and/or management companies with sample outreach 
materials, for example those found on the ILG website, that may assist in getting the word out to tenants of a multifamily 

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



complex. Jurisdictions may also want to use the phased in approach mentioned previously to initially work with complexes with 
16 or more units, which by law are required to have an on-site manager, to provide education and outreach and set up 
monitoring efforts. The phased in approach can assist if limited resources are available initially to provide education, outreach 
and monitoring to smaller complexes.

What are some suggestions on how a jurisdiction should handle businesses that are recalcitrant in providing 
information on self-hauling and other recycling activities not provided by the jurisdiction’s franchised/permitted 
hauler?

If a jurisdiction is having difficulty collecting information from businesses, the jurisdiction could develop requirements for 
businesses that self-haul such as requiring these businesses to complete and retain at their place of business a form certifying 
that they are recycling. Some businesses already track this information to demonstrate compliance with internal environmental 
procedures or as part of other state programs.

Reporting

Will businesses and/or jurisdictions need to report diverted tonnages?

Although they are not required to do so, jurisdictions may provide diverted tonnages in the Electronic Annual Report, if 
available. Jurisdictions will report in the Electronic Annual Report on how they are implementing education, outreach, and 
monitoring activities. The reported information should include a description of activities implemented, how many and/or which 
types of businesses were contacted, how the jurisdiction tracked businesses that are not currently recycling and informed them 
of the recycling requirement, etc. More information about what information jurisdictions should provide in the Electronic Annual 
Report will be provided later in 2012/early 2013 prior to the release of the 2012 report cycle. Jurisdictions may also implement 
additional requirements on businesses for reporting purposes.

Additionally, CalRecycle will be measuring if the state as a whole is meeting the goal of reducing approximately 2-3 million tons 
of solid waste from the commercial waste stream by conducting statewide waste characterization studies in 2014 and 2019.

Does a jurisdiction need to report on its education, outreach and monitoring efforts if it is meeting its per capita 
disposal target?

Nothing in statute or the regulation relieves a jurisdiction of its obligations once it exceeds a certain level of diversion. The 
jurisdiction is still required to implement a program that includes education, outreach, and monitoring, and report on the efforts 
in each of those areas in its Electronic Annual Report in addition to reporting on other AB 939 programs.

When will jurisdictions need to start reporting on their implementation efforts and what should be reported?

Jurisdictions will be required to report in the Electronic Annual Report starting with the 2012 report (due August 2013) on how 
they are implementing education, outreach, and monitoring activities.

For the 2012 Electronic Annual Report, jurisdictions will only be reporting on what they have done with regards to education, 
outreach, and monitoring in the last six months of 2012. Note: The 2012 Electronic Annual Report will be reviewed, but will not 
be part of the next Jurisdiction Review cycle commencing in late 2012, which will cover annual reports from years 2007 through 
2011.

How should I report multi-family recycling for complexes that are serviced under the residential program?

If multifamily complexes, such as condominiums and townhomes, including subdivisions operated under homeowners 
associations, are considered residential properties by the jurisdiction, e.g., they are on the curbside recycling collection route, 
then they would not be subject to the regulation as they are already provided recycling service as a part of the residential 
program. The jurisdiction would report this information on its AB 939 residential recycling program in the Electronic Annual 
Report.

How should I report multi-family recycling for complexes that are subject to the regulation?

The regulation requires that jurisdictions report in the Electronic Annual Report on how they are implementing education, 
outreach, and monitoring. Guidance will be provided to jurisdictions prior to submittal of the 2012 Electronic Annual Report. The 
reporting is not intended to be significantly time-consuming. To further illustrate, here is an example of what could be reported 
to CalRecycle in the Electronic Annual Report regarding a jurisdiction's efforts to provide education, outreach, and monitoring 
to the multi-family sector: Annual outreach is provided to all multi-family units via a letter or bill insert or a site visit by a 
representative for the hauler. The hauler confirms that all multi-family units of five or more units have subscribed to recycling 
services, or, the hauler confirms X number are subscribing to recycling services and that Y number are not subscribing to 
recycling services. In addition, a representative for the hauler met with the on-site manager of all complexes not subscribing to 
recycling services to inform them of the requirement.

Compliance

How will CalRecycle determine compliance with the Mandatory Commercial Recycling regulation?

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



CalRecycle will continue to follow its historical process of reviewing jurisdictions’ AB 939 compliance by focusing on program 
implementation. CalRecycle’s Local Assistance and Market Development staff will continue to review the implementation of the 
local programs that the jurisdiction has chosen to implement, to determine if the jurisdiction has met the requirements. 
Additionally, CalRecycle will continue to rely on Electronic Annual Reports, annual staff jurisdiction site visits, and other 
information that the jurisdiction deems relevant.

If my jurisdiction already offers recycling to commercial and multi-family customers at no additional charge and we 
monitor participation rates, are we in compliance?

If a jurisdiction already has a commercial recycling program that targets affected businesses and addresses the education, 
outreach, and monitoring components of the regulation, the jurisdiction would not be required to implement a new or expanded 
program. However, most jurisdictions will need to ensure that their program informs public entities and multi-family complexes 
about the state requirement to recycle under AB 341. In addition, depending on the program that the jurisdiction has for 
monitoring participation rates, the jurisdiction may need to add a component of informing those entities that are not recycling of 
the state requirement to recycle and how they can recycle in the jurisdiction.

Will a generation study be required to demonstrate compliance with the regulation?

No, a generation study is not required to demonstrate compliance with the regulation.

How will jurisdictions and CalRecycle be able to evaluate the effectiveness of a program without data?

CalRecycle will be measuring if the state as a whole is meeting the goal of reducing approximately 2-3 million tons of solid 
waste from the commercial waste stream by conducting statewide waste characterization studies in 2014 and 2019.

Regarding jurisdictions’ compliance with the law, CalRecycle will take into consideration the reasons that a jurisdiction cannot 
provide data. However, jurisdictions should have some data to provide to CalRecycle in the Electronic Annual Report to 
demonstrate that they have conducted education, outreach, and monitoring activities. For example, jurisdictions should know 
(or have an estimate if the jurisdiction does not have a franchise system) how many businesses are located in the jurisdiction, 
and how many meet the threshold. The jurisdiction should also be able to determine or estimate the number of businesses that 
are recycling. The jurisdiction should also be able to report on how many businesses received outreach, education, and 
monitoring. If jurisdictions are making a good-faith effort to provide education, outreach, and monitoring and there are things 
outside of their ability to control, e.g., a hauler will not provide data on businesses that meet the threshold, then CalRecycle 
would take this into consideration. Just as is required in the AB939 review regarding implementing the Source Reduction and 
Recycling Element and Household Hazardous Waste Element programs, whether or not a jurisdiction has made a good-faith 
effort in complying with the commercial recycling requirement will be determined on a case-by-case basis.

How should jurisdictions collect information from businesses to determine compliance with the regulation?

Typically, jurisdictions will utilize hauler information to assess if businesses are recycling. Jurisdictions also have the ability to 
place additional requirements on businesses. Jurisdictions will want to discuss approaches with their Local Assistance and 
Market Development contact in advance and report in the Electronic Annual Report their efforts at monitoring. It is important to 
note that the jurisdiction is not held accountable if a business chooses not to recycle, although the jurisdiction still needs to 
have outreach, education, and monitoring in place. The monitoring of businesses that are and are not recycling is not intended 
to be onerous for the jurisdiction. However, Local Assistance and Market Development staff will want to know if there are 
businesses that are not recycling so that CalRecycle staff can assist—as you may have heard in past webinars there are a lot 
of ways to get businesses, public entities, and multi-family complexes to recycle—and Local Assistance and Market 
Development staff would like to see how we can assist you in working with key businesses that are not recycling. Discuss your 
ideas with your Local Assistance and Market Development representative to get additional feedback and consider coordinating 
with any other neighboring jurisdictions for consistency.

Will CalRecycle issue a “Compliance Order” if my jurisdiction cannot demonstrate compliance with Mandatory 
Commercial Recycling requirements?

Jurisdictions are required to implement outreach, education, and monitoring. CalRecycle will review each jurisdiction’s 
compliance as a part of its review authorized under AB 939 pursuant to PRC 41825. As part of that AB 939 program review, a 
good faith effort determination can be reached based on the parameters identified in PRC 41850 and PRC 42649.3 (i), namely 
that all reasonable and feasible efforts have been made to implement its commercial recycling program.

If CalRecycle finds that a jurisdiction has failed to make a good-faith effort to implement a commercial recycling program, 
CalRecycle would initiate the compliance order process, just as is currently done as a part of the AB 939 review. CalRecycle 
will evaluate the jurisdiction’s implementation of its outreach, education, and monitoring programs during its AB 939 review of 
the jurisdiction’s Source Reduction and Recycling Element and Household Hazardous Waste Element. If the jurisdiction is 
found to not have made a good-faith effort in implementing its programs, possibly including its mandatory commercial recycling 
program, CalRecycle can place the jurisdiction on a compliance order, as part of the AB 939 review. If the jurisdiction fails to 
adequately meet the conditions of the compliance order, then CalRecycle could consider a penalty hearing, etc.

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



The jurisdiction has a number of privately owned and operated transfer stations where self-haulers deliver 
commercial waste. Is it the responsibility of the facility owner/operator to ensure compliance with the regulation? Or 
does the jurisdiction need to establish an ordinance or landfill ban?

The requirement is on businesses to ensure that they are complying with the law. Jurisdictions shall implement a program that 
includes education, outreach, and monitoring to targeted businesses. Jurisdictions also have discretion to implement landfill 
bans, ordinances, or other means to regulate commercial recycling consistent with their legal authority.

All waste materials generated by the commercial sector in my jurisdiction are sent to a mixed waste processing 
facility (a.k.a. ‘dirty MRF’) whereupon materials are separated from general garbage for recycling. Is that system alone 
sufficient to comply with the regulation? 

No, the system alone is not sufficient, because the jurisdiction is still responsible for conducting education, outreach, and 
monitoring. Education, outreach, and monitoring ensure that businesses know about the state requirement to recycle and how 
they can recycle in the jurisdiction. Most communities that have a mixed waste processing system also offer source-separated 
collection for particular material types, and there is likely associated education. Additional options that may be available to 
businesses based on the jurisdiction include use of third party recyclers, self-haul, back-haul, and/or donation of recyclables. 
These communities would need to educate businesses about the state requirement to recycle and how they can recycle in the 
jurisdiction, e.g. using source-separated collection, mixed waste processing, or a combination of both. Monitoring efforts could 
include verification as to how the material is being processed at the materials recovery facility. For more information about 
mixed waste processing in relation to AB 341, please review the Final Statement of Reasons (PDF, 311 KB).

Do we need to send commercial and/or multi-family waste to a mixed waste processing facility prior to landfilling to 
comply with the regulation?

CalRecycle understands that each jurisdiction has its own unique set of circumstances and generators and is in a better 
position to determine what will work best to divert material from the commercial sector. The regulation provides flexibility and 
does not dictate how a jurisdiction must implement a program or that the material must be sent to a mixed waste processing 
facility prior to it being landfilled.

Will CalRecycle consider availability of composting facilities and markets in its review?

CalRecycle will consider availability of markets for collected recyclables, as well as availability of markets for organics.

Enforcement

Is there a requirement for local jurisdictions to enforce the regulation?

No, the regulation does not require jurisdiction enforcement. The objective is to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 5 million 
metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (MMTCO2E), which equates to roughly an additional 2 to 3 million tons of currently 
disposed commercial solid waste being recycled by 2020 and thereafter. This is considered a modest goal based on current 
recycling trends. It is anticipated that with the built-in flexibility, enough businesses, including multi-family dwellings, will start 
new recycling programs and/or expand upon existing programs to meet the greenhouse gas emission reduction goal.

Jurisdictions can choose to implement some type of local mandatory commercial recycling program to enforce business 
compliance. Approaches might include: 1) requiring businesses to participate in the recycling services that are already 
available in their city or county, 2) requiring businesses to use a mixed waste processing facility, or 3) implementing a 
mandatory commercial recycling ordinance or policy. In terms of overall policy and program design, mandatory commercial 
recycling programs can vary substantially. For example, the types and sizes of businesses and industry can vary, as can the 
amount and types of material generated per week, etc. Those regulated may include the hauler, business generators, or both. 
Some programs target specific business materials for recycling while others do not specify. The methods for monitoring and 
determining compliance and enforcing the ordinance can differ greatly depending upon a jurisdiction’s resources, hauler 
arrangement, etc. The regulation is designed to offer as much flexibility as possible while still keeping on target to meet the 
greenhouse gas emission reduction goal.

Is there an enforcement component for any entity in the regulation?

CalRecycle will evaluate the jurisdiction’s implementation of its outreach, education, and monitoring programs during its AB 939 
review of the jurisdiction’s Source Reduction and Recycling Element and Household Hazardous Waste Element. If the 
jurisdiction is found to not have made a good-faith effort in implementing its program, CalRecycle can place the jurisdiction on a 
compliance order.

If a business or school generates over four cubic yards per week of commercial solid waste and refuses to subscribe 
to recycling service, do we need to take some enforcement action against the business (e.g. fine, notice of violation, 
etc.) to maintain the jurisdiction’s compliance with the regulation?

The regulation does not require enforcement. Jurisdictions are required to inform the business or public entity of the state 
requirement to recycle and how to recycle in the jurisdiction. However, a jurisdiction may choose to implement an enforcement 
program. Enforcement options that would be consistent with a jurisdiction’s authority include, but are not limited to, a penalty or 
fine structure that incorporates warning notices, civil injunctions, financial penalties, or criminal prosecution.

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



Will local jurisdictions be required to fine customers for not participating in the program?

No. Enforcement, including fines, is not a requirement. However, jurisdictions may choose, at their discretion and consistent 
with their legal authority, to use fines or other enforcement mechanisms. 

If haulers are not a regulated party, how can jurisdictions and businesses be held accountable if the haulers are not 
required to provide services and/or report out to the jurisdictions?

The legislation was developed to place the requirement on businesses to use any combination of recycling options, including 
subscribing to a recycling service, self-hauling recyclables, using a mixed waste processing facility, and/or allowing for the 
pickup of recyclables. It seems unlikely that a community would have no options for businesses to recycle. Additionally, the 
jurisdictions may establish their own requirements on haulers. Finally, as each jurisdiction’s situation is unique, the assigned 
Local Assistance and Market Development representative will work with jurisdictions to assess their particular situation.

If my jurisdiction offers recycling through a franchised hauler and a multi-family property owner subscribes to the 
service, but the tenants do not participate in it, does the tenant, property owner, or jurisdiction receive the 
enforcement action?

In order to answer this question, it is important to distinguish between different types of enforcement. Under AB 341, it is up to 
jurisdictions to have a commercial recycling program that consists of education, outreach, and monitoring. CalRecycle will 
evaluate each jurisdiction’s education, outreach, and monitoring compliance using the same good-faith effort standard as used 
when reviewing the jurisdiction’s AB 939 Source Reduction and Recycling Element and Household Hazardous Waste Element 
programs. CalRecycle will not be enforcing directly on businesses, so how the situation described above will be handled will 
depend upon the program that the jurisdiction has in place. For example, if the jurisdiction requires property owner 
participation, then it would be taking enforcement action against the property owner and be leaving it up to the property owner 
to deal with the tenant—most likely through a rental agreement provision.

The jurisdiction’s Local Assistance and Market Development contact can assist the jurisdiction in developing effective 
education and outreach tools to maximize compliance by property owners and tenants. Also, please visit the Institute for Local 
Government’s commercial recycling website for sample flyers and outreach materials that property owners can utilize to 
educate tenants.

Mandatory Commercial Recycling Home

Last updated: September 18, 2012 
Climate Change: http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/Climate Change/ 
Contact: climatechange@calrecycle.ca.gov

  

Conditions of Use | Privacy Policy 
©1995, 2013 California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle). All rights reserved.

Frequently Asked Questions: Mandatory Commercial Recycling Proposed Regulations

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/recycling/faq.htm



7 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:  January 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re: Update on Single Use Bag/CEQA Request for Proposals 
 
The attached Request for Proposals (RFP) was issued on December 17th and 
responses were due January 15th.  The goal of this project is develop a model 
single use bag reduction ordinance for use by the JPA Members that currently 
do not have an ordinance – and that is believed to have a good chance of 
avoiding potentially costly legal challenge.  The Marin Independent Journal 
recently ran the attached front page story and editorial on the “plastic bag ban” 
in unincorporated Marin County. 
 
Responses to the RFP are currently being evaluated and the Single Use Bag 
Subcommittee (Nancy Mackle and Jim McCann) will be meeting soon to review 
proposals and potentially interview a firm or firms – with a goal of developing a 
recommendation to the Board which could include a proposed contract with a 
consultant identified from the RFP process.  This could occur at the February 
28, 2013 JPA Board Meeting.  Authorizing a contract would require releasing 
some amount of contingency funds to fund the project because it is not 
currently in the FY 12/13 JPA budget. 
 
Recommendation 
Receive and file this report. 
 
Attachment. 
 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 130124\Update on Single Use Bag CEQA.doc 



 
 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) 

FOR  

DEVELOPMENT OF A MODEL SINGLE USE BAG 

ORDINANCE AND ASSOCIATED CALIFORNIA 

ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT ANALYSIS 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Issue Date:  Monday, December 17, 2012 

  

Response Due:  Tuesday, January 15, 2013 
 

 

 

  



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



1 
 

The Marin County Hazardous and Solid Waste Management Joint Powers 
Authority (JPA) is seeking a qualified contractor to assist with the preparation of a 
model single-use carryout bag reduction ordinance and provide California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) consulting services related to the adoption 
and implementation of said ordinance. 
 
The JPA intends, but is not obligating itself, to select a firm to provide the 
consulting services described in this Request for Proposals (RFP).  The JPA 
expects proposers to be well-versed in the legal issues surrounding carryout bag 
ordinances in other California local jurisdictions and State law requirements (AB 
2449). 
 
Deadline to submit a response is 4:00 p.m., Tuesday, January 15, 2012  
 
Specific questions regarding this RFP should be sent via email to Steve Devine, 
Program Manager at sdevine@marincounty.org  to ensure appropriate tracking 
and response.  
 
JPA BACKGROUND  
 
The Marin County Hazardous and Solid Waste Management Joint Powers 
Authority (JPA) was formed in 1996 and is recognized as a Regional Agency by 
CalRecycle.  The JPA membership consists of Marin County’s eleven Cities and 
the County itself.  The County of Marin has a single use bag ordinance 
(http://www.co.marin.ca.us/ag/PlasticBags.cfm) in effect for the unincorporated 
portions of the County, and the City of Fairfax enacted an ordinance by voter 
initiative: 
(http://www.co.marin.ca.us/depts/RV/main/Measures/2008/Nov/MeasureC.pdf).  
The remaining Member Cities do not have any ordinances. 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
On behalf of its Members, the JPA is interested in developing a model single-use 
carryout bag reduction ordinance (“Ordinance”) for consideration, revision, and 
potential adoption by its Members – other than those that currently have an 
Ordinance on the books. The JPA’s intention is to conduct the CEQA analysis for 
the Ordinance and prepare an appropriate CEQA document such that each 
Member can use the document as part of the Member’s consideration and 
potential adoption of an individual local version of the model Ordinance. As such, 
though the CEQA analysis would be conducted on a regional scale to capture all 
the JPA’s Members, the results of the analysis should focus on case-by-case 
adoption of local Ordinances by the Members.  The selected contractor will 
advise the JPA on the best approach to providing this type of CEQA analysis for 
the Ordinance.  
 



2 
 

Respondents to this RFP should propose a scope of work that includes an 
environmental analysis that would allow for some variation in local interpretation 
of the Ordinance, since each Member may wish to make changes to the model 
Ordinance. For example, one Member might seek to make the model Ordinance 
more stringent, while another might seek a phased-in approach, and still another 
might consider and adopt the Ordinance as drafted by the JPA. To achieve these 
ends, it may behoove the prospective consultant to conduct the environmental 
analysis with respect to a liberal application of the Ordinance, such that local 
changes to the Ordinance would result in less variation in potential environmental 
impacts.  
 
The JPA wishes to conduct this CEQA analysis to minimize the potential for legal 
challenge to the Authority and the Members.  
 
MODEL ORDINANCE DESCRIPTION 
 
The model single-use carryout bag reduction ordinance being contemplated (but 
with details still to be determined by the JPA Board) is anticipated to apply to all 
retail establishments, including grocery stores, department stores, retail 
businesses, and convenience stores (not restaurants). It would prohibit the 
distribution of carryout plastic bags and place a fee on carryout paper bags to be 
charged to the customer at the point of sale. Thus, only two types of carryout 
bags would be allowed to be distributed:  
 
• Reusable carryout bags – made of various materials, including canvas, 

cotton, plastic, hemp and other plant fibers, etc.  
• Paper carryout bags – will be required to contain at least 40 percent recycled 

content  
 
Reusable carryout bags would be given away or sold in retail establishments. 
Retail establishments would be required to charge a fee at point of sale to all 
customers taking paper bags. The paper bag fee is intended to help cover the 
costs incurred by the business for providing paper bags and to deter customers 
from using paper bags, and encourage them to bring reusable bags.  
 
The mechanics of enforcing such an Ordinance still needs to be determined, but 
in the case of Marin County and Town of Fairfax, enforcement is being done by 
Marin County’s Agricultural Weights and Measures Division. Stores determined 
not in compliance with the ordinance would be subject to a citation process, 
including administrative fines and appeals set forth in each Member’s municipal 
code.   
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

DRAFT SCOPE OF SERVICES  
 
1. Kick off meeting to confer with the JPA on a project timeline, project 

description, information gathering, etc. 
 
2. Preparation of a Model Ordinance for use by the Members that do not 

currently have a single use carryout bag reduction ordinance in place. 
 

3. Conduct preliminary environmental review to determine what level of CEQA 
documentation is required.  Preparation of an Initial Study in compliance with 
CEQA is assumed, unless preliminary environmental review determines that 
a categorical exemption will suffice.   The Initial Study will adhere to the 
policies and procedures set forth in the Marin County Environmental Review 
Guidelines. 

 
4. Prepare one of the following CEQA documents based on the results of the 

Initial Study:  
a. Negative Declaration;  
b. Mitigated Negative Declaration; or  
c. Environmental Impact Report (would require an amendment to the scope 

of services and budget) 
 
Typical deliverables would include CEQA documents (administrative drafts 
included), technical papers and reports, telephone consultations, e-mail or written 
memo communications, technical descriptions, interpretations, and other 
deliverables as requested and deemed necessary by the JPA.  The selected 
consultant will contact the Marin County Environmental Planning Manager to 
discuss the process and findings of the preliminary environmental review prior to 
preparing a CEQA document. 
 
DRAFT TIMELINE  
 

• December 17, 2012 RFP issued 

• January 15, 2013 RFP responses due 

• January 24, 2013 Update to JPA Board on project 

• Late January/early February selection process 

• February 21, 2013 JPA Board considers authorizing contract 

• March 1, 2013 commence work 

• April 2013 consultant submits recommended Model Ordinance 

• April/May 2013 JPA review of proposed Model Ordinance 

• May/June 2013 consultant submits preliminary environmental review 

• May/June 2013 commence selected level of CEQA analysis 

• TBD.  Model Ordinance and accompanying completed CEQA analysis 
available for use by Member Cities 

 
 



4 
 

PREPARING A PROPOSAL 
 
Respond by the Numbers 
 
Please provide information on the numbered items below.  Be sure to respond by 
number and item in order.  After each item number there is a description or 
examples of interest to the JPA.  Proposers are encouraged to provide any 
information that is pertinent to the item.  Do not change the numbering sequence.  
A brochure or product demo is not acceptable, but can be referenced as 
supplemental material.   
 
1. Introduction.  Provide a brief description of your firm, resumes of pertinent 

staff, contact information for the point person from your firm, experience in the 
industry, number of years developing CEQA analysis and/or model 
ordinances.  Describe your experience working specifically with carryout bag 
ordinances and associated CEQA analysis.  Include company name, address, 
contact name, title, phone number, fax number, and email address.  Also 
identify any subcontractors you intend to use and their particular specialty, 
along with inclusion of resumes.   

 
2. Current Clients and References:  Submit a list of no more than three current 

or recent clients.  Be sure to include references pertaining to any CEQA work 
related to single use carryout bag reduction ordinances.  Provide full contact 
information. 

 
3. Given the information available to you at this time, describe your 

recommended level of CEQA analysis and your vision for the steps in the 
process.  If possible, include citations to recent court decisions that support 
the recommended level of CEQA analysis. 

 
4. Provide a sample Scope of Services, which at a minimum addresses the 

needs noted above in the “Draft Scope of Services” section.   
 

5. Timeline.  Provide your own version of what you believe to be a realistic 
timeline – that at a minimum addresses the items noted above in the “Draft 
Timeline” section.  The JPA is interested in garnering information from what 
you propose as reasonable dates for project deliverables once the project 
starts – and those dates do not necessarily need to be those that we have 
provided in the “Draft Timeline” section above.  

 
6. Budget.  Provide a budget specific to this project which includes budget 

allocations and lists in detail the services proposed to be provided in 
connection with this project.  The budget should include pricing for each 
possible type of CEQA document that might be prepared.  Include staff time, 
materials, reporting, etc.  Be sure to incorporate time to meet with the JPA 
Board and any Subcommittees of the Board.  Please also provide your time 



5 
 

and material rates – as there may be a desire for individual Members to utilize 
a contractor’s services on an as-needed basis independent of the work being 
contemplated herein by the JPA. 

 
PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS  
 
All proposals shall be submitted in writing and be in accordance with the 
requirements of this RFP. Deviation from said requirements may result in 
rejection of the proposal. Five (5) double sided copies of the proposal and an 
accompanying CD containing a single PDF of the complete proposal shall 
be delivered to the following address by 4:00 p.m. by Tuesday, January 15, 
2013:  
 

Marin County Hazardous and Solid Waste Management  
Joint Powers Authority 

Attn: Steve Devine 
899 Northgate Drive, Suite 100 

San Rafael, CA 94903 
 
Proposals received after the required submittal date will be rejected. Information 
and clarifications WILL NOT be accepted after the required submittal date unless 
specifically requested by the JPA. Telephone or telephone proposals WILL NOT 
be accepted. Proposals delivered via fax WILL NOT be accepted. Letters of 
transmittal are not required and WILL NOT be considered a part of the proposal.  
Each copy of the proposal shall be clearly labeled to identify the name and 
address of the Proposer. Each proposal shall be dated and shall be printed on 8 
½ inch by 11 inch size paper, printed double sided on at least 30% post-
consumer recycled paper. Each page shall be numbered and fully legible.  
Proposers shall label one unbound version of the five copies as “Original” which 
shall govern in the event of any inconsistency among copies of the proposal.  
 
All documents requiring signature shall be the signature signed by a person 
authorized to commit the Proposer to the proposal and to execute agreements on 
behalf of the Proposer.  
 
Proposers are notified that costs of preparing and submitting proposals and the 
risks associated therewith shall be borne solely by the Proposer. No 
compensation will be provided to Proposers for work performed or costs incurred 
during the preparation, submittal or evaluation of proposals and in the execution 
and delivery of an agreement awarded as result of this RFP.  Proposals shall 
become property of the JPA. 







http://www.marinij.com/opinion/ci_22317653/editorial-plastic-bag-ban-at-marin-grocery-stores?IADID=Search-www.marinij.com-www.marinij.com

Page 1 of 1 16/01/2013 12:18 PM

Editorial: Plastic bag ban at Marin grocery stores is working
Posted: marinij.com

 

A YEAR HAS passed since the ban on plastic bags at 42 grocery stores in Marin's unincorporated areas took
effect.

What seemed a radical idea just a few years ago is now part of the mainstream, with more cities and counties
following suit.

The threat of bullying lawsuits by industry groups has diminished and no longer is a factor because cities and
counties refused to be cowed.

In Marin, consumers and retailers have gotten used to the program and seem largely supportive. Not everyone, of
course, for different reasons, but the county is pleased with compliance and the result.

Fewer plastic bags are showing up at the landfill, which is encouraging. "I've been here a long time. We can see
the difference," said Nelson Alcantara at the Marin Resource Recovery Center.

The program isn't perfect. Many grocery stores are exempt because they are in the limits of one of Marin's 11
incorporated cities and towns. Of course, those grocery stores could do what United Markets in San Rafael and
other stores have done and voluntarily stopped providing plastic bags at their check-out stands. The law also only
applies to grocery stores.

Paper bags aren't environmentally perfect, which is what shoppers get (and pay for) if they forget to bring their
own bags to the grocery store. Paper bags also aren't cheap. Retailers charge customers 5 cents for a paper grocery
bag.

But Marin's law is working and was a good first step. It has encouraged consumers to change their bag behavior
(piles of reusable bags are a common sight in cars in the county). For some, cool reusable bags provide another
opportunity to make a fashion or political statement.

Supervisor Susan Adams, who along with late Supervisor Charles McGlashan pushed for Marin's law, is pleased
with the result after a year. "It was a small, but important step in creating a culture change," Adams said.

She's right. It also is a step that all the cities and towns in Marin need to take so the entire county is on the same
page when it comes to plastic bags at grocery stores.

http://www.marinij.com/opinion/ci_22317653/editorial-plastic-bag-ban-at-marin-grocery-stores?IADID=Search-www.marinij.com-www.marinij.com


8 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:  January 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re: Update on Zero Waste Outreach Request for Qualifications 
 
 
A Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for assistance with zero waste outreach 
was issued on October 24, 2012 with responses due November 21, 2012.  The 
RFQ was distributed to over seventy local firms and eleven responses were 
received.  Consistent with the JPA Board approved selection process – a 
screening committee which included Local Task Force (LTF) members Patty 
Garbarino and Renee Goddard reviewed all the responses and recommended 
three firms for interview. 
 
Interviews were conducted January 10, 2012 by a panel including the JPA 
Board Chair Nancy Mackle, LTF Chair David Green, and an outside agency 
solid waste representative Nicole Forte from the West Contra Costa Integrated 
Waste Management Authority. 
 
The panel has identified a firm with which a proposed contract is currently 
being developed – and will be brought before the JPA Board for your 
consideration at the February JPA Board Meeting.  Funds for this work are 
included in the current JPA budget. 
 
Recommendation 
Receive and file this report. 
 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 130124\Update on Zero Waste Outreach RFQ.doc 



9 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date:  January 24, 2013 
 

To: JPA Board Members 
 

From: Michael Frost, Executive Officer 
 

Re:  Updated JPA Staffing Contract with County 
 
At the May 24, 2012 Board meeting, the Board accepted the JPA audit report 
and financial statements for the year ending June 30, 2011 prepared by John 
Maher CPA. In Mr. Maher’s report he recommended a new contract be 
executed between the JPA and County of Marin to reflect the current 
arrangement between the parties. The JPA staff report noted that Staff agreed 
with Mr. Maher’s recommendation and agreed to take on that task in this 
current fiscal year. The current contract between the JPA and County of Marin 
was approved in 1995 as a one year contract and has been extended each 
fiscal year since by both parties.  
 
The goal of the new contract is to keep the format of the previous agreement 
and to document current practices.  Highlights of the agreement are that the 
JPA annual budget is the controlling document that will identify specific 
programs and contracts to be funded. This agreement with the County of Marin 
for staff and associated rent is for a set contract amount that is established and 
affirmed during each annual budget. The proposed contract will expire June 30, 
2020, with provisions to extend by mutual agreement, or cancel by either party 
with 180 days written notice. 
 
The Marin County Counsel Office is acting as legal counsel for both the JPA 
and the County of Marin in this agreement. The contract was approved to form 
by two Deputy County Counsels. Nancy Grisham reviewed and signed as the 
JPA’s Attorney, and Mari-Ann Rivers reviewed and signed as legal counsel for 
the County of Marin. The Executive Committee reviewed the staffing 
agreement at their October 25, 2012 meeting and recommended adoption by 
the JPA Board. 
 
As noted above, the goal of this new agreement is to document current 
practices.  The annual budget will remain the controlling document for future 
programs and contracts. After the new contract is approved by your Board, it 
will be forwarded to the County of Marin Board of Supervisors for final 
ratification.  
 
Recommendation: 
The Executive Committee recommends your Board approve the attached 
contract between the JPA and County of Marin for staff services and 
associated rent for staff work. 
 
Attachment. 
f:\waste\jpa\jpa agenda items\excom 121025\updated staffing contract with county.docx

 











































10 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date:  January 24, 2013 

 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Michael Frost, Executive Director 
 
Re: Novato Household Hazardous Waste Grant 
 
In the FY 12-13 budget, the JPA allocated funds for the tenth year to 
Novato Sanitary District to augment Novato’s Household Hazardous 
Waste Program. The Novato Sanitary District accepted the proposed 
$50,639 grant at their January 14, 2012 meeting (attached). 
 
This grant program’s funding is calculated on the portion of the HHW 
tipping fee for Novato self-haul material as well as a ten year payment of 
$15,003 annually to Novato for back-payment of dues owed prior to 
grant program implementation.  This is the tenth and final year of that 
$150,028 repayment.  Future years of grant funding for Novato will only 
be based on the proportion of the HHW expense applicable to Novato 
self-haul waste. 
 
Recommendation 
It is recommended that the Board authorize the Chair sign the attached 
grant contract as approved by the Novato Sanitary District. 
 
 
Attachment 
 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 120126\Novato HHW Grant.doc 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 























11 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date:  January 24, 2013 

 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re:  Contract with R3 Consulting Group for Certification of Diversion 

Facilities 
 
It is recommended your Board approve and authorize your Executive 
Officer, Michael Frost, to sign the attached $15,000 contract with R3 
Consulting Group to assist JPA staff in certification and monitoring of 
construction demolition (C&D) facilities. Funding for this contract is 
included in the JPA’s current year Zero Waste budget.  
 
As part of the JPA’s Zero Waste Tool Kit the JPA developed a model 
Construction and Demolition Ordinance which has been adopted by 
most JPA member agencies. As part of the ordinance, applicable parties 
applying for a building permit are required to complete a Diversion 
Report in order to document compliance with the C&D ordinance 
diversion requirements. The JPA’s role in this process is to certify 
facilities that meet the ordinance goals and provide a list to each 
Community Development Agency and Building Department of certified 
facilities. 
 
In 2012 seven (7) facilities were certified and submitted diversion reports 
that were included in the JPA’s diversion reporting. This current contract 
will provide for certification and analysis of all existing and any new C&D 
Facilities that desire to be considered for certification in Marin County. 
The work program of this contract includes provisions the contractor 
provide on-site facility reviews and assess the effectiveness of the 
policies, procedures, and internal controls that are being used to comply 
with the various requirements included in the Facility Certification 
Standards. 
 
Attachment. 
 
 
 
f:\waste\jpa\jpa agenda items\jpa 130124\r3 c+d.docx 

 























12 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:  January 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re: Update on Redwood Landfill Environmental Impact Report and Related 

Expansion Permit 
 
 
As reported in the local news, the Marin County Superior Court has issued a 
ruling invalidating the Environmental Impact Report which was part of the 
justification for a permit, which among things, included allowing for an 
expansion in the overall capacity of the landfill. 
 
As issues related to this matter are unfolding, the JPA will continue to closely 
monitor the situation.  This development may require the JPA to conduct a new 
Siting Element – one component of each County’s Cal Recycle required 
Integrated Waste Management Plan. 
 
Marin County Counsel has been invited to brief the JPA Board on this matter at 
your February Board Meeting. 
 
Recommendation 
Receive and file this report. 
 
Attachments. 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 130124\Update on Redwood Landfill Permit.doc 



http://www.marinij.com/novato/ci_22234440/marin-judge-finalizes-ruling-voiding-new-permit-redwood?IADID=Search-www.marinij.com-www.marinij.com

Page 1 of 2 31/12/2012 11:08 AM

Marin judge finalizes ruling voiding new permit for Redwood Landfill
Posted: marinij.com

 

Marin Superior Court Judge Lynn Duryee has finalized a ruling which invalidates the environmental impact report
that paved the way for a major expansion of Redwood Landfill in Novato.

Just eight days after issuing her tentative ruling and listening to subsequent oral arguments, Duryee announced she
hadn't changed her mind.

In that tentative ruling, Duryee wrote, "By not including a discussion of the cumulative effect of the project's
greenhouse gas emissions, (Marin County) Environmental Health Services failed to proceed in a manner required
by law."

Opponents of the landfill's expansion cited Duryee's ruling as a big victory.

After the county of Marin certified the environmental impact report in 2008, the landfill was able to obtain a
permit from the state to boost capacity at the landfill by 6 million cubic yards to a total capacity of 25 million
cubic yards.

Dan North, who took over as Redwood Landfill's manager in October, said, "We're still looking at our options; but
we're leaning heavily toward filing an appeal."

North said the judge's ruling will have no immediate effect on the landfill's day-to-day operations. He said,
however, if the ruling were to stand, the landfill might have to close within the next 10 years. The expanded
capacity granted by the new permit, which has now been voided, would have made it possible for the landfill to
remain open an additional 16 years, or a total of nearly 25 years. North said he is unsure if the environmental
impact report, which Duryee deemed to be inadequate, can be patched or if a entirely new report would be
necessary.

Brent Newell, one of the attorneys working for No Wetlands Landfill Expansion, which filed the legal challenge to
the environmental impact report, said, "There are some pretty significant issues they have to deal with."

In her ruling, Judge Duryee identified several other aspects of the report that she said were deficient. For example,
Duryee said the report fails to adequately discuss the possible increased "non-cancer health impacts" from air
pollutant emissions

Duryee also said the report improperly deferred formulation "of mitigation measures to reduce the impact to the
project from potential flooding," and "mitigation of the impact from groundwater contamination from an
improperly designed leachate collection and removal system."

And, Judge Duryee ruled that the environmental impact report failed to adequately describe an off-site alternative
to the project.

Newell said a new impact report would have to provide analysis of an alternative site. He said, "That will present
to the decision makers an alternative to expanding a 1950s landfill in a marsh."

No Wetlands Landfill Expansion and several other environmental groups have warned that Marin taxpayers could
get stuck with the bill if toxic leachate stored in the landfill escapes due to flooding or an earthquake. The landfill
is surrounded on three sides by the Petaluma River, San Antonio Creek and other wetlands that lead into San

http://www.marinij.com/novato/ci_22234440/marin-judge-finalizes-ruling-voiding-new-permit-redwood?IADID=Search-www.marinij.com-www.marinij.com


http://www.marinij.com/novato/ci_22234440/marin-judge-finalizes-ruling-voiding-new-permit-redwood?IADID=Search-www.marinij.com-www.marinij.com

Page 2 of 2 31/12/2012 11:08 AM

Francisco Bay.

Bruce Baum, chairman of No Wetlands Landfill Expansion's board of directors, said, "Our concerns continue
around the lack of a liner and inadequate levees. We hope that Marin County steps up to get the financial
assurances necessary for the residents and the environment because all landfalls fail."

Christopher Gilkerson, a former director of No Wetlands Landfill Expansion, said, "Counties like Marin can no
longer allow the waste business to conduct business as usual given the additional risks presented by global
warming."

Contact Richard Halstead via e-mail at rhalstead@marinij.com

http://www.marinij.com/novato/ci_22234440/marin-judge-finalizes-ruling-voiding-new-permit-redwood?IADID=Search-www.marinij.com-www.marinij.com


http://www.marinij.com/novato/ci_22264283/redwood-landfill-owner-appeals-marin-judges-decision?IADID=Search-www.marinij.com-www.marinij.com

Page 1 of 2 31/12/2012 11:07 AM

Redwood Landfill owner appeals Marin judge's decision
Posted: marinij.com

 

The owner of the Redwood Landfill in Novato is appealing a Marin Superior Court ruling that could force the
landfill to close within the next 10 years.

"We didn't feel that we got a fair shake at the trial court so we're headed toward the Court of Appeal," said Osha
Meserve, an attorney representing the landfill's owners, Houston-based Waste Management Inc.

Last week, Marin Superior Court Judge Lynn Duryee finalized her ruling invalidating an environmental impact
report that had paved the way for the landfill to remain open for nearly 25 years. Duryee's ruling has had no
immediate effect on the landfill's day-to-day operation; but if judgment stands it could accelerate the timetable for
closing the dump.

After the county of Marin certified an environmental impact report in 2008, the landfill was able to obtain a permit
from the state to boost capacity at the landfill by 6 million cubic yards, to a total capacity of 25 million cubic
yards.

No Wetlands Landfill Expansion and several other environmental groups have warned that Marin taxpayers could
get stuck with the bill if toxic leachate stored in the landfill escapes due to flooding or an earthquake. The landfill
is surrounded on three sides by the Petaluma River, San Antonio Creek and other wetlands that lead into San
Francisco Bay.

Bruce Baum, chairman of No Wetlands Landfill Expansion's board of directors, said his organization was notified
of the appeal on Christmas Eve.

"It was our Christmas present," Baum said. "I think we have a very strong case. The Marin County court was very
clear in giving the county some direction. I think we will prevail in appellate court."

Meserve said the case will go to the 1st District Court of Appeal in San Francisco, and she estimated it could take
up to a year for the justices to hear the case. Meserve said that is how long it took the district court to rule on the
appeal of a previous ruling related to the landfill's environmental impact report.

In March, the 1st District Court of Appeal ruled in favor of the landfill, overruling a decision by Marin Superior
Court Judge James Ritchie that the county violated the California Environmental Quality Act when it denied a
request for the Marin Board of Supervisors to rule on an appeal of the environmental impact report approval.

"We asked the 1st District Court of Appeal to rule on all issues in addition to that procedural issue and they
refused unfortunately," Meserve said. "That's how we ended up back in the trial court."

Nancy Grisham, a deputy county counsel, helped the landfill's attorneys argue their case before Judge Duryee.
Meserve said the landfill would welcome the county's participation in this new appeal, but she said the county has
not yet decided if it will get involved.

In her ruling, Duryee wrote, "By not including a discussion of the cumulative effect of the project's greenhouse gas
emissions, (Marin County) Environmental Health Services failed to proceed in a manner required by law." Duryee
also identified several other aspects of the report that she said were deficient.

She said the report failed to adequately discuss the possible increased "noncancer health impacts" from air

http://www.marinij.com/novato/ci_22264283/redwood-landfill-owner-appeals-marin-judges-decision?IADID=Search-www.marinij.com-www.marinij.com


http://www.marinij.com/novato/ci_22264283/redwood-landfill-owner-appeals-marin-judges-decision?IADID=Search-www.marinij.com-www.marinij.com

Page 2 of 2 31/12/2012 11:07 AM

pollutant emissions. She said the report improperly deferred formulation "of mitigation measures to reduce the
impact to the project from potential flooding," and "mitigation of the impact from groundwater contamination
from an improperly designed leachate collection and removal system." And, Duryee ruled that the environmental
impact report failed to adequately describe an off-site alternative to the project.

Meserve, however, said that when the facts in a full, environmental impact report are challenged in court the
burden of proof resides with the party making the challenge. She expects that to be a key issue in the appeal.

Contact Richard Halstead via e-mail at rhalstead@marinij.com

http://www.marinij.com/novato/ci_22264283/redwood-landfill-owner-appeals-marin-judges-decision?IADID=Search-www.marinij.com-www.marinij.com


13 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date:  January 24, 2013 

 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re:  Appointment of Dan North to Local Task Force 
 
Ramin Khany, a hauler/facility operator representative on the Local Task 
Force (LTF) has resigned from the LTF and recommended having Dan 
North, the new Waste Management District Manager; assume his 
position (letter attached).   
 
Following Mr. Khany’s request, Mr. North submitted an email to staff 
(attached) stating his interest in assuming the LTF position and also 
provided a resume.  Mr. North has already attended several LTF 
meetings, has met with JPA Staff to help educate himself on the JPA 
structure and issues being addressed by the Local Task Force.  
 
At the October 25, 2012 Executive Committee meeting Dan North was 
recommended to fill the vacant hauler position on the LTF.  
 
Additionally attached is a list of the current LTF membership, so your 
committee can see the current position makeup by stakeholder group.  
 
Recommendation 
Your Executive Committee recommends your Board appoint Dan North 
to the vacant hauler/facility operator position on the Local Task Force.   
 
Attachments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
f:\waste\jpa\jpa agenda items\jpa 130124\dan north appointement.docx 

 















14 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 
 

Date: January 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re:  Recruitment for Special District Representative to LTF 
 
Jon Elam, General Manager of the Tamalpias Community Services 
District has resigned from the Local Task Force – after recently 
concluding two years at the LTF Chair.  The LTF has appointed a new 
Chair from their current membership, but there is a special district 
position that is currently vacant. 
 
On December 19, 2012 JPA staff sent out a letter (attached) to the 
special districts that franchise waste hauling to solicit nominations and 
applications for the vacant Local Task Force seat.  Staff requested that a 
letter of interest and resume or statement of qualifications be submitted 
by January 31, 2013. 
 
The JPA Board will be presented with a full list of applicants, including 
letters of interest and resumes at a future meeting. Appointments to the 
special district position will be made by the JPA Board of Directors. 
 
Recommendation 
Receive and file this report. 
 
Attachment 
 
 
 
 
f:\waste\jpa\jpa agenda items\jpa 130124\recruitment for special district representative.doc 

 







15 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:  January 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re: Notice of Funds Available:  City/County Payment Program 
 
The CalRecycle department of the California Environmental Protection 
Agency administers a payment program to provide funding opportunities 
for beverage container recycling. 
 
A copy of CalRecycle’s Notice of Funds available is attached to this 
report – and the deadline for filing a funding request is March 4, 2013.  
This program has relatively low administrative burden, and the JPA 
strongly encourages all of the Member Cities and County to apply. 
 
Eligible activities in the City/County payment program are focused on 
beverage container recycling and litter cleanup activities and include:  
public education promoting beverage container recycling and supporting 
the mandatory commercial recycling provisions of AB 341. 
 
Member agencies may want to consider utilizing the Conservation Corps 
North Bay (CCNB), which has been an active participant in many 
recycling projects in Marin and Sonoma, to help institute related waste 
reduction and waste prevention programs.  Jennie Pardi from the CCNB 
is a member of the JPA’s Local Task Force and can provide information 
to anyone interested on their available services. 
 
Recommendation 
Receive and file this report. 
 
Attachment. 
 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 130124\CAPRS NOFA.doc 



Beverage Container Recycling Grant and Payment Programs

Notice of Funds Available: City/County Payment Program (FY 2012/13)

Eligibility | Funding | Timeline and Cycle Details

The Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle) administers a program to provide opportunities for 
beverage container recycling. The goal of this program is to reach and maintain an 80 percent recycling rate for all California 
Refund Value (CRV) beverage containers - aluminum, glass, plastic and bi-metal. Projects implemented by cities and counties 
will assist in reaching and maintaining this goal.

Pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 14581(a)(4)(A) of the California Beverage Container Recycling and Litter 
Reduction Act, the Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle) is distributing $10,500,000 to eligible cities 
and counties specifically for beverage container recycling and litter cleanup activities.

Eligibility

Applicants 

Incorporated cities and counties in California, as identified by the California Department of Finance, are eligible to receive 
funding under this program, unless otherwise determined by the Department.

Activities

Eligible activities include, but are not necessarily limited to: 

Supporting AB 341 Mandatory Commercial Recycling (MCR) requirements. (For additional information on MCR and 
definitions of “businesses” and “multi-family residential dwellings” as they relate to this regulation, see the Mandatory 
Commercial Recycling page).

Infrastructure for businesses to recycle beverage containers.

Support for new or existing beverage container recycling programs for multi-family residential dwellings.

Public education and outreach (that includes a beverage container recycling component). 

Other activities include: 

Supporting new or existing curbside recycling programs. 

Neighborhood drop-off recycling programs.

Public education promoting beverage container recycling.

Litter prevention and cleanup where the waste stream includes beverage containers that will be recycled.

Cooperative regional efforts among two or more cities and counties.

Other beverage container recycling programs. 

Approved activities are listed in the “Activities” tab, by category, on the Funding Request. An “other” box is provided to allow 
additional activities to be listed. These are subject to approval by CalRecycle. In accordance with the governor’s directive, 
promotional items are ineligible expenses under CalRecycle grant/direct payment programs. More information on this directive 
can be found on our Promotional Items page.

Funding

Pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 14581(a)(4)(A) provides a maximum of $10.5 million per fiscal year for this 
program. The per capita amount is calculated, based upon the population as of January 1, 2012, in the incorporated areas of a 
city, city and county, or the unincorporated area of a county, as stated in the annual City and County Population and Housing 
Estimates report submitted to the governor by the California Department of Finance. 

Each city is eligible to receive a minimum of $5,000 or an amount calculated by CalRecycle, on a per capita basis, 
whichever is greater. 

NOFA: FY 2012/13 Cityi/County Payment Prgoram Grant Program

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/BevContainer/Grants/CityCounty/FY201213/default.htm



Each county is eligible to receive a minimum of $10,000 or an amount calculated by CalRecycle, on a per capita basis, 
whichever is greater. 

Timeline and Cycle Details for FY 2012/13

Dates Cycle Details

November 
30, 2012

Funding Request Open Date and Access Information 

First time users of the City/County Annual Payment and Reporting System (CAPRS) system must:

Obtain a CalRecycle WebPass. Note: Those who previously obtained a WebPass for a CalRecycle 
system (i.e., GMSWeb, LoGIC, E-Waste, etc.) do not need to obtain a new WebPass.

1.

Access cannot be granted unless the applicant is designated as a contact in CAPRS. Request access to 
the system by sending an email to the assigned Grant Manager after obtaining their WebPass. If you are 
unable to access the CAPRS system, you may send an email to citycounty@calrecycle.ca.gov or call 916
-322-0613.

2.

Returning users can immediately log in to CAPRS. 

March 4, 
2013

Funding Request Due Date 

Program Guidelines (PDF, 176 KB)

Funding Request must be submitted via CAPRS by 5 p.m. on this date.

If you are unable to access the CAPRS system you may send an email to citycounty@calrecycle.ca.gov or 
call 916-322-0613. 

April 30, 
2013

Payments Distributed 

CalRecycle makes payments to cities and counties.

City/County Payment Program Home

Last updated: November 28, 2012 
Beverage Container Recycling Grants, http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/BevContainer/Grants/ 
Contacts: http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/BevContainer/Contacts.htm

  

Conditions of Use | Privacy Policy 
©1995, 2013 California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle). All rights reserved.

NOFA: FY 2012/13 Cityi/County Payment Prgoram Grant Program

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/BevContainer/Grants/CityCounty/FY201213/default.htm


	Cover Letter
	Agenda
	Item 1
	Item 2
	Item 3
	Item 4
	Item 5
	Item 5 Attach_1
	Item 5 Attach_2
	Item 6
	Item 6 Attach
	Item 7
	Item 7 Attach_1
	Item 7 Attach_2
	Item 7 Attach_3
	Item 8
	Item 9
	Item 9 Attach_1
	Item 9 Attach_2
	Item 10
	Item 10 Attach_1
	Item 11
	Item 11 Attach_1
	Item 12
	Item 12 Attach_1
	Item 12 Attach _2
	Item 13
	Item 13 Attach_1
	Item 14
	Item 14 Attach_1
	Item 15
	Item 15 Attach_1

		2013-01-17T13:53:18-0800
	Michael Frost


		2013-01-17T13:53:46-0800
	Steve Devine


		2013-01-17T13:54:53-0800
	Michael Frost


		2013-01-17T13:55:11-0800
	Steve Devine


		2013-01-17T13:55:54-0800
	Steve Devine


		2013-01-17T13:57:10-0800
	Steve Devine


		2013-01-17T13:57:36-0800
	Steve Devine


		2013-01-17T13:58:31-0800
	Michael Frost


		2013-01-17T13:58:50-0800
	Michael Frost


		2013-01-17T13:59:18-0800
	Steve Devine


		2013-01-17T13:59:37-0800
	Steve Devine


		2013-01-17T14:00:00-0800
	Steve Devine


		2013-01-17T14:00:25-0800
	Steve Devine


		2013-01-17T14:00:52-0800
	Steve Devine




